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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION Ao 12 5
Notice of Annual General Meeting of Stockholde >

TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

Please be informed that the Annual General Meeting of the stockholders of NI KE%)
ASIA CORPORATION will be held on Friday, 5 June 2015 at 2:00 p.m. at the Ascott
Ballroom, 5th Floor, Ascott Bonifacio Global City, 5th Ave. cor. 28th St., BGC, Taguig City
(the “Annual General Meeting” or “AGM”). The order of business thereat will be as follows:

Call to Order

Proof of required notice of the meeting

Certification of quorum

Reading and approval of the Minutes of the 6 June 2014 annual stockholders’ meeting

and the 18 December 2014 special stockholders’ meeting and action thereon

Presentation of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31

December 2014 and action thereon

6. Amendment of Article Seventh of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase
Authorized Capital Stock from Php 2,139,700,000.00 to Php 9,639,700,000.00

7. Declaration of one hundred percent (100%) stock dividend

8. Ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and Executive Officers
during the year 2014

9. Appointment of independent auditors

10. Election of directors, including independent directors

11. Other matters

O AROMNA

A brief statement of the rationale and explanation for each Agenda item which requires
shareholders’ approval is contained in Annex “A” of this Notice. The Definitive Information
Statement accompanying this Notice contains more detail regarding the rationale and
explanation for each of such Agenda items.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on 15 April 2015 are entitled to notice of,
and to vote at, this year's AGM. Registration will commence at 12:30 p.m. on 5 June 2015 at .
the venue of the AGM. To facilitate registration, please bring some form of identification such as
driver’s license or company I.D.

The Company is not soliciting proxies. Should you be unable to attend the meeting
personally, you can nevertheless be represented and vote at the AGM by submitting a proxy to
the Office of the Corporate Secretary at the Company’s principal office on or before 25 May
2015, which is the deadline for submission of proxies. You may use the attached proxy form
which is compliant with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Proxy validation will be on 28 May 2015 at the Office of Corporate Secretary at the Company’s
principal office.

BARBARA

A LOS
Corporate Secfetary

The Rationale and Explanation for each Agenda item requiring
shareholders’ approval is attached to this Notice.

The Definitive Information Statement, Management Report and
2014 Audited Financial Statements accompany this Notice.



. Call to Order

ANNEX “A”

EXPLANATION AND RATIONALE
For each item on the Agenda of the 2015 AGM of Nickel Asia Corporatlon T
requiring the vote of stockholders ‘ N TNGE

AGENDA

- -
The Chairman will formally open the 2015 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders The
Directors and Officers of the Company will be introduced.

. Proof of required notice of the meeting

The Corporate Secretary will certify that copies of this Notice and the Information
Statement with its accompanying documents have been duly sent to stockholders of
record as of 15 April 2015.

. Certification of quorum
The Corporate Secretary will attest whether a quorum is present for the meeting.

. Reading and approval of the Minutes of the 6 June 2014 annual stockholders’
meeting and the 18 December 2014 special stockholders’ meeting and action
thereon

Shareholders may examine the Minutes of the 6 June 2014 annual general meeting and
the 18 December 2014 special stockholders’ meeting in accordance with Sec. 74 of the
Corporation Code. The Minutes are also available on the Company’s website.

Resolution to be adopted:

Shareholders will vote for the adoption of a resolution approving the Minutes of the 6
June 2014 annual general meeting of the stockholders and the 18 December 2014
special meeting of the stockholders.

. Presentation of annual report and audited financial statements for the year ended
2014 and action thereon

The annual report and the financial statements of the Company, audited by the
Company’s external auditors, Sycip Gorres Velayo & Company, will be presented. The
report will include the Audited Financial Statements, a copy of which accompanies this
Notice and the Definitive Information Statement. Copies of the Definitive Information
Statement and the Audited Financial Statements for 2014 are likewise made available
on the Company’s website (www.nickelasia.com).

OPEN FORUM

After the presentation, shareholders may raise questions or express comments that are
relevant to the corporation.

Resolution to be adopted:

Shareholders will vote for the adoption of a resolution approving the annual report and
the audited financial statements for the year 2014.



6. Amendment of Article Seventh of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to
increase Authorized Capital Stock from Php 2,139,700,000.00 to Php
9,639,700,000.00
On 27 March 2015, the Board of Directors approved the increase in authorized capital
stock of the Company from Php 2,139,700,000.00 to Php 9,639,700,000.00. The
approval of stockholders owning at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock will be
sought at the Annual General Stockholders’ Meeting. The increase in capital stock of
Php 7,500,000,000.00 will consist of 15,000,000,000 common shares with a par value of
Php 0.50. Information about the increase in authorized capital stock is contained in
pages 24 to 25 of the Information Statement.

Resolution to be adopted:
The approval of the increase in authorized capital stock of the Company from Php
2,139,700,000.00 to Php 9,639,700,000.00.

7. Declaration of one hundred percent (100%) stock dividend

On 27 March 2015, the Board of Directors approved the declaration of a one hundred
per cent (100%) stock dividend. The 100% stock dividend will support the increase in
authorized capital stock (Item no. 6 above). The approval of stockholders owning at least
2/3 of the outstanding capital stock will be sought at the Annual General Stockholders’
Meeting. The one hundred per cent (100%) stock dividend will consist of 3,795,885,515
common shares which will be paid to holders of common shares as of record date in
proportion to their holdings. In view of the stock dividend declaration, there will be an
adjustment to the number of shares reserved for the Company’s stock option plans
(please see Warrants and Options Outstanding at pages 21 to 22 of the Information
Statement attached to this Notice). Information about the stock dividend is contained in
pages 24 to 25 of the Information Statement.

Resolution to be adopted:

The approval of the stock dividend, with the corresponding adjustment to the number of
shares reserved for the stock option plans and the concomitant waiver of pre-emptive
rights with respect to the additional shares that will be reserved for the stock option
plans.

8. Ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and Executive
Officers during the year 2014
Actions by the Board and by the officers are contained in the Definitive Information
Statement (please see pages 26 to 27 of the Information Statement) or are referred to in
the Management Report.

Resolution to be adopted:
The ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and Officers.

9. Appointment of independent auditors
The Audit and Risk Committee screened the nominees for independent external auditor
and endorsed the appointment of Sycip Gorres Velayo and Company (“SGV”) as the
Company’s independent external auditors for the year 2015.

Resolution to be adopted:
Shareholders will vote on a resolution for the appointment of SGV as independent
external auditor of the Company for 2015.



10. Election of directors, including independent directors

11.

The Final List of Candidates for election as directors, as prepared by the Nominations
Committee in accordance with the Company’s By-Laws, the Manual on Corporate
Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and
Regulations and SEC guidelines for the election of independent directors, is contained in
the Definitive Information Statement (please see page 11). The Final List will be
presented to the shareholders, and the election of directors will be held.

The Voting Procedure is stated in the Definitive Information Statement (please see
pages 27 to 28).

Other matters
Matters that are relevant to and appropriate for the annual general shareholders’
meeting may be taken up. No resolution, other than the resolutions explained in the
Notice and the Definitive Information Statement, will be submitted for voting by the
shareholders.

12. Adjournment



10.

11-

12.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 20-IS

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

Check the appropriate box:

[x] Preliminary Information Statement o TR 4 |
[ 1 Definitive Information Statement £

Name of Registrant as specified in its charter: NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION A f :
Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization Phlllggme / ‘g( =
SEC Identification Number: CS200811530

BIR Tax Identification Code: 007-085-191-000

28" Floor, NAC Tower, 32" Street, Bonifacio Global City,

Tagquig City, Metro Manila 1634
Address of principal office Postal Code

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: +63 2 798 7622

Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders:

Date : Friday, 5§ June 2015
Time : 2:00 p.m.
Place : Ascott Ballroom, 5th Floor, Ascott Bonifacio Global City

5th Ave. cor. 28th St., BGC, Taguig City
Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security
holders: 7 May 2015 (28 days prior to the Meeting)

In case of Proxy Solicitations: NOT APPLICABLE

Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitator:
Address and Telephone Number:

Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants):

Common Stock Issued 3,795,885,515
Preferred Stock Issued 720,000,000
Long-term Debt Php 1,431.5 Million

Are any or all of registrant's securities listed in a Stock Exchange?

Yesx No

If so, disclose the name of Exchange: Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.




PART |.

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INFORMATION STATEMENT

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

Item 1.Date, Time and Place of Meeting of Security Holders

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Stockholders of Nickel Asia Corporation, a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Philippines with address at the 28"
Floor, NAC Tower, 32" Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City, Metro Manila will be held on
Friday, 5 June 2015 at 2:00 p.m. at Ascott Ballroom, 5th Floor, Ascott Bonifacio Global
City, 5th Ave. cor. 28th St., BGC, Taguig City. The Agenda of the AGM, as indicated in the
accompanying Notice of Annual General Meeting of Stockholders, is as follows:

Call to Order

Proof of required notice of the meeting

Certification of quorum

Reading and approval of the Minutes of the 6 June 2014 annual stockholders’ meeting

and the 18 December 2014 special stockholders’ meeting and action thereon

Presentation of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended

31 December 2014 and action thereon

6. Amendment of Article Seventh of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase
Authorized Capital Stock from Php 2,139,700,000.00 to Php 9,639,700,000.00

7. Declaration of one hundred percent (100%) stock dividend

8. Ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and Executive Officers
during the year 2014

9. Appointment of independent auditors

10. Election of directors, including independent directors

11. Other matters

BN~

o

As in previous years, there will be an OPEN FORUM before the approval of the Annual Report
and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 is submitted to the
vote of the shareholders. Questions will likewise be entertained for other items in the agenda as
appropriate and consistent with orderly proceedings.

The Management Report and the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2014 are attached to this Information Statement. The Annual Report under
Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Form 17-A will be made available on the Company’s
website not later than April 15, 2015. Upon written request of a shareholder the Company shall
furnish such shareholder with a copy of the said Annual Report on SEC Form 17-A, as filed with
the SEC free of charge. The contact details for obtaining such copy are on Page 29 of this
Information Statement.

Shareholders who cannot attend the Meeting may accomplish the attached Proxy Form. Please
indicate your vote (Yes, No, Abstain) for each item in the attached form, and submit the same
on or before 25 May 2015 to the Office of the Corporate Secretary at the Company’s principal
office.

Proxies will be tabulated by the Company’s stock transfer agent, Stock Transfer Service Inc.
34th Floor, Rufino Plaza, Ayala Avenue, Makati City (“STSI”) and will be voted as indicated by

2



the shareholder in the proxy and applicable rules. The tabulation of votes shall be done by STSI
and reviewed by the Company’s independent external auditor, Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co.

Voting procedures are contained in Item 19 (page 28) of this Information Statement and will be
stated at the start of the Meeting. Cumulative voting is allowed; please refer to Item 4, page 4
and Item 19, page 28 for an explanation of cumulative voting.

Further information and explanation regarding specific agenda items, where appropriate, are
contained in various sections of this Information Statement. This Information Statement
constitutes notice of the resolutions to be adopted at the Meeting.

This Information Statement and Proxy Form shall be sent to security holders on 7 May 2015 (28
days before the Meeting), after the approval of the Definitive Information Statement by the SEC.

WE ARE NOT SOLICITING PROXIES. SHAREHOLDERS MAY APPOINT PROXIES IF THEY
ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING SO THAT THEIR VOTE MAY BE COUNTED.

Item 2. Dissenters' Right of Appraisal

There are no corporate matters or action to be taken during the Meeting on 5 June 2015 that will
entitle a stockholder to a Right of Appraisal as provided in Title X of the Corporation Code of the
Philippines (Batas Pambansa [National Law] No. 68).

For the information of stockholders, any stockholder of the Company shall have a right to
dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his shares in the following instances, as
provided in the Corporation Code of the Philippines:

1. In case any amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or
restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing
preferences in any respect superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or of
extending or shortening the term of corporate existence (Section 81);

2. In case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of
all or substantially all of the corporate property and assets as provided in the Code
(Section 81);

3. In case of merger or consolidation (Section 81); and
4. In case of investments in another corporation, business or purpose (Section 42).

The Corporation Code of the Philippines (at Section 82) provides that the appraisal right may be
exercised by any stockholder who shall have voted against the proposed corporate action, by
making a written demand on the corporation within thirty (30) days after the date on which the
vote was taken, for payment of the fair value of his shares: provided, that failure to make the
demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right. A stockholder must
have voted against the proposed corporate action in order to avail himself of the appraisal right.
If the proposed corporate action is implemented or effected, the corporation shall pay to such
stockholder, upon surrender of his certificate(s) of stock representing his shares, the fair value
thereof as of the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation
or depreciation in anticipation of such corporate action.



If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the
stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and the corporation cannot agree on the fair value of
the shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, one of
whom shall be named by the stockholder, another by the corporation and the third by the two
thus chosen. The findings of the majority of appraisers shall be final, and their award shall be
paid by the corporation within thirty (30) days after such award is made; provided, that no
payment shall be made to any dissenting stockholder unless the corporation has unrestricted
retained earnings in its books to cover such payment; and provided, further, that upon payment
by the corporation of the agreed or awarded price, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his
shares to the corporation.

Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

No director, nominee for election as director, associate of the nominee or executive officer of the
Company at any time since the beginning of the last fiscal year, has any substantial interest,
direct or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise, in any of the matters to be acted upon in the
meeting, other than election to office and the approval of the one hundred percent (100%) stock
dividend and the concomitant adjustment to the Company’s stock option plans (please see
Warrants and Options Outstanding at pages 21 to 22 of this Information Statement) which shall
benefit directors and officers who are stockholders or grantees of stock options.

No incumbent director has informed the Company in writing of an intention to oppose any action
to be taken at the meeting.

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 4.Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

As of 31 March 2015, there are there are 3,795,885,515 outstanding and issued common
shares of the Company, out of which 1,178,860,967 (31.06%) are owned by non-Filipinos, and
720,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, all of which are owned by a Filipino company. Each
share of stock is entitled to one vote.

All stockholders of record as of 15 April 2015 are entitled to notice and to vote at the Annual
General Stockholders’ Meeting.

A stockholder entitled to vote at the meeting shall have the right to vote in person or by proxy.

Cumulative voting may be adopted in the election of directors as allowed by the Corporation
Code of the Philippines. On this basis, each registered stockholder as of 15 April 2015 may vote
the number of shares registered in his name for each of the nine (9) directors to be elected; or
he may multiply the number of shares registered in his name by nine (9), the number of the
Company’s directors as provided in its Articles of Incorporation, and cast the total of such votes
for one (1) director. A stockholder may also distribute his votes among some or all of the nine
(9) directors to be elected.

Voting Procedures are stated in page 28 of this Definitive Information Statement.



Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners

The following stockholders own more than five percent (5%) of the Company’s stock as of 31

March 2015:
Title of Name and Address of Name of Citizenship No. of % of
Class Record Owner and Beneficial Shares Held Class
Relationship with Owner and
Issuer Relationship
with Record
Owner
Common PCD Nominee (See Note 1) Filipino 2,605,404,789 | 68.64%
Corporation
(See Note 1)
Common | Sumitomo Metal Mining Sumitomo Japanese 722,328,963 | 19.03%
Philippine Holdings Metal Mining
Corporation Philippine
(See Note 2) Holdings
25th Floor, NAC Tower, | Corporation
32nd Street, Bonifacio (Direct)
Global City, Taguig City
Common PCD Nominee (See Note 1) | Non-Filipino | 450,224,624 11.86%
Corporation
(See Note 3)
Preferred | Nickel Asia Holdings, Nickel Asia Filipino 720,000,000 100%
Inc. Holdings, Inc.
(Stockholder) (See Note 4)
(See Note 4)
28/F NAC Tower, 32nd
Street, Bonifacio Global
City, Taguig City, Metro
Manila, Philippines

(1) PCD Nominee Corporation (“PCD”), the nominee of the Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.,
is the registered owner of the shares in the books of the Company’s transfer agent. The
beneficial owners of such shares are PCD’s participants who hold the shares on their own
behalf or in behalf of their clients. PCD is a private company organized by the major
institutions actively participating in the Philippine capital markets to implement an automated
book-entry system of handling securities transactions in the Philippines. The 68.64%
registered under PCD Nominee Corporation includes 485,419,008 shares (12.7880%) held
(indirect) by Luis J. L. Virata, 971,000,269 shares (25.5803%) of Mantra Resources
Corporation (Manuel B. Zamora), and 508,365,691 shares (13.3925%) of Ni Capital
Corporation (Philip T. Ang).

(2) Sumitomo Metal Mining Philippine Holdings Corporation is represented by Mr. Takanori
Fujimura and Mr. Takeshi Kubota on the Company’s Board of Directors.

(3) There are no participants under the PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino) account
owning more than 5% of the voting securities.

(4) The majority stockholders of Nickel Asia Holdings, Inc. are Mr. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr., Mr.
Philip T. Ang, Mr. Luis J.L. Virata and Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd.



Proxies of the foregoing record owners for the Annual General Stockholders’ Meeting on
5 June 2015 have not yet been submitted. The deadline set by the Board of Directors for
submission of proxies is on 25 May 2015.

Security Ownership of Management

The beneficial ownership of the Company’s directors and executive officers as of 31 March
2015 is as follows:

Title of Name of Amount and Nature of | Citizenship | % of Class
Class Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership
Common Manuel B. Zamora Jr. 2,991,118 (Direct) Filipino 0.0788%
971,119,533 (Indirect) 25.5834%
(See Note 1)
Common Philip T. Ang 808,362 (Direct) Filipino 0.0213%
508,439,209 (Indirect) 13.3945%
(See Note 2)
Common Gerard H. Brimo 5,217,187 (Direct) Filipino 0.1374%
1,269,750 (Indirect) 0.0334%
Common Luis J. L. Virata 200 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000%
485,419,008 (Indirect) 12.7880%
(See Note 3)
Common | Martin Antonio G. Zamora 150 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000%
Common Takanori Fujimura 562 (Direct) Japanese 0.0000%
Common Takeshi Kubota 562 (Direct) Japanese 0.0000%
Common | Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. 421 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000%
Common Frederick Y. Dy 421 (Direct) Filipino 0.0000%
Common Jose S. Saret 1,782,000 (Indirect) Filipino 0.0469%
Common Emmanuel L. Samson 500,000 (Indirect) Filipino 0.0132%
Common Raymundo B. Ferrer - Filipino -
Common Rolando R. Cruz 165,000 (Indirect) Filipino 0.0043%
Common | Jose Roderick F. Fernando 322,075 (Indirect) Filipino 0.0084%
Common Koichi Ishihara - Filipino -
Common Jose D. Baylon - Filipino -
Common | Barbara Anne C. Migallos - Filipino -
Common Ma. Angela G. Villamor 532,654 (Indirect) Filipino 0.0140%
Directors and Executive Officers as a 1,978,568,212 52.1240%
Group

(1) The indirect shares indicated above are held through Manta Resources Corporation (see
also Note 1 under Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners, at page 5).

(2) The indirect shares are held through Ni Capital Corporation (see also Note 1 under Security
Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners, at page 5).

(3) The indirect shares indicated are held through Nonillion Holding Corporation (see also Note
1 under Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners, at page 5).



Voting Trust Holders/Changes in Control

There are no voting trust holders of 5% or more of the Company’s stock. There are no
arrangements that may result in a change of control of the Company.

Item 5.Directors and Executive Officers
Directors

The names of the incumbent directors of the Company, their respective ages, citizenship, period
of service, directorships in other companies and positions held for the last five (5) years are as
follows:

1) MANUEL B. ZAMORA, JR. — 77, Filipino citizen; founder of the Company; first elected
Director of the Company on 24 July 2008; Chairman of the Board since 24 July 2008;
last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Zamora is a lawyer and a member of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines. He
received his Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines and placed
third in the 1961 Bar Examinations.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Zamora is the Chairman of Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corp. (RTN) and Taganito Mining
Corp. (TMC). Mr. Zamora is also a director of a number of other companies in the
Philippines, including CLSA Exchange Capital, Inc. He was previously Chairman and
President of the Chamber of Mines of the Philippines.

Listed companies of which Mr. Zamora is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

2) PHILIP T. ANG - 74, Filipino citizen; first elected Director of the Company on 24 July
2008; Vice-Chairman of the Board since 16 June 2010; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Ang received his Bachelor of Science in Business Administration degree from
Oregon State University and his Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of Denver, USA.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Ang is presently an independent director of Security Bank Corporation and two of its
subsidiaries, namely, SB Capital Investment Corporation and Security Finance, Inc. He
was formerly a director of Investors Assurance Corp. and was previously involved in the
textile business as Chairman and President of Solid Mills, Inc. and of Unisol Industries
and Manufacturing Corp. and as a director of International Garments Corp.

Listed companies of which Mr. Ang is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation
2. Security Bank Corporation (Independent)



3)

4)

5)

GERARD H. BRIMO - 64, Filipino citizen; first elected Director of the Company on 24
July 2008; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Brimo obtained his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration from
Manhattan College, New York, U.S.A. and his Masters Degree in Business Management
from the Asian Institute of Management.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Brimo is the President of RTN, TMC, Cagdianao Mining Corp. (CMC) and Hinatuan
Mining Corp. (HMC). Mr. Brimo joined the Company in 2008 and is also the director and
President of two privately owned exploration companies, Newminco Nickel Mining Corp.
and Newminco Pacific Mining Corp. Mr. Brimo began his mining career with Philex
Mining Corp. as a Vice President in 1985 and served as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Philex Mining from 1994 until his retirement from said company in December
2003. He was President of the Chamber of Mines of the Philippines from 1993 to 1995
and Chairman from 1995 to 2003.

Listed companies of which Mr. Brimo is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

LUIS J. L. VIRATA - 61, Filipino citizen; first elected Director of the Company on 24 July
2008; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Virata obtained his BA/MA Degree in Economics from Trinity College, Cambridge
University, United Kingdom and his Masters Degree in Business Administration from the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Virata is presently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CLSA Exchange
Capital, Inc.,an investment banking joint venture formed in 2001 between Exchange
Capital, which Mr. Virata formed in 1998, and CLSA Emerging Markets. Mr. Virata is
also presently the President and Chief Executive Officer of Coastal Road Corp.,
Chairman and President of Exchange Properties Resources Corp., Founder and Trustee
of Asia Society and a director of Benguet Corporation, Huntsman Foundation and Group
4 Securitas. Mr. Virata has previously held positions with Dillon, Read and Co., Crocker
National Bank, Bankers Trust Company, Philippine Airlines, NSC Properties, Inc., the
Philippine Stock Exchange, the Makati Stock Exchange, and National Steel Corp.

Listed companies of which Mr. Virata is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

FULGENCIO S. FACTORAN, JR. — 72, Filipino citizen; first elected Independent
Director of the Company on 24 September 2010; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Factoran received his Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines
and his Master of Laws degree from Harvard University.



6)

7)

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Factoran is a Director of Banco de Oro Leasing & Finance, Chairman of GAIA South,
Inc., Chairman of Agility, Inc., and a Director of Geo-Surveys & Mapping, Inc. He was
previously a Director of Central Azucarera de Tarlac and Business Certification
International, Ltd. He previously held various government positions, such as Trustee of
the Government Service and Insurance System, Secretary of the Department of
Environment and Natural Resources, Chairman of the National Electrification
Administration, Chairman of the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes, Director of the National
Development Corp., Trustee of the Development Academy of the Philippines and Deputy
Executive Secretary of the Office of the President of the Philippines.

Listed companies of which Mr. Factoran is presently a director

Philippines
1. Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation (Independent)
2. Nickel Asia Corporation (independent)

FREDERICK Y. DY — 60, Filipino citizen; first elected Independent Director of the
Company on 22 September 2010; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Dy is the Chairman and a director of Security Bank Corporation, Chairman of City
Industrial Corporation, Chairman of St. Luke’s Medical Center and a director of
Ponderosa Leather Goods Company, Inc.

Listed companies of which Mr. Dy is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation (Independent)
2. Security Bank Corporation

MARTIN ANTONIO G. ZAMORA - 43, Filipino citizen; first elected Director of the
Company on 16 June 2010 to 22 September 2010; director since 30 July 2013 to
present; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Mr. Zamora obtained his Bachelor of Science Degree in Management from the Ateneo
de Manila University and his Masters Degree in Business Administration from the
London Business School. He is currently taking up Executive Master in Consulting and
Coaching for Change at the INSEAD Business School, Singapore.

Business and Professional Background/Experience

Mr. Zamora is the Senior Vice President for Marketing and Strategic Planning of the
Company and is responsible for the marketing and strategic functions of the NAC Group.
He is likewise the President of Samar Nickel Mining Resources Corporation. Prior to
joining the Company in 2007, Mr. Zamora was a director and Philippine head of UPC
Renewables, a global developer, owner, and operator of wind farms and solar facilities.
He also has more than 10 years’ experience in corporate finance and investment
banking, having held positions with firms such as CLSA, Robert Fleming & Co. (UK),
Jardine Fleming, and SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.




Listed companies of which Mr. Zamora is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

8) TAKANORI FUJIMURA - 71, Japanese citizen; first elected Director of the Company on
2009; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Business and Professional Background/Experience
Mr. Fujimura is the President of Sumitomo Metal Mining Philippine Holdings Corporation
and Coral Bay Nickel Corporation.

Listed companies of which Mr. Fujimura is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

9) TAKESHI KUBOTA - 60, Japanese citizen; first elected Director of the Company on 26
February 2010; last re-elected on 6 June 2014.

Business and Professional Background/Experience
Mr. Kubota is currently a director and Managing Executive Officer of Sumitomo Metal
Mining Co., Ltd. (SMM) and General Manager of its Non-Ferrous Metals Division.

Listed companies of which Mr. Kubota is presently a director

Philippines
1. Nickel Asia Corporation

Japan
1. Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd.

There is no director who has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of
directors since the 6 June 2014 Annual General Meeting because of a disagreement with the
Company on any matter relating to the Company’s operations, policies or practices. No director
has furnished the Company with a letter describing such disagreement and requesting that the
matter be disclosed.

Process and Criteria for Selection of Nominees for Directors

The Board of Directors set 15 April 2015 as the deadline for the submission of nominations to
the Board of Directors. The deadline was duly announced and disclosed on 27 March 2015.

The Nominations Committee composed of Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. (Chairman), Takeshi Kubota
and Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. (Independent Director) screened the nominees for election to the
Board of Directors in accordance with the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance. The
Committee assessed the candidates’ background, educational qualifications, work experience,
expertise and stature as would enable them to effectively participate in the deliberations of the
Board.
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In the case of the independent directors, the Committee further reviewed their business
relationships and activities to ensure that they have all the qualifications and none of the
disqualifications for independent directors as set forth in the Company’s Manual of Corporate
Governance, the Securities Regulation Code (“SRC”), and the SRC Implementing Rules and
Regulations.

Nominees for Election at Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on 5 June 2015

The Nominations Committee screens the nominees to determine whether they have all of the
qualifications and none of the disqualifications for election to the Company’s Board of Directors,
prepares the Final List of Candidates for election to the Board of Director at the annual
shareholders’ meeting. The following have been nominated for election to the Company’s Board
of Directors:

Manuel B. Zamora, Jr.

Philip T. Ang

Gerard H. Brimo

Martin Antonio G. Zamora

Luis J. L. Virata

Takanori Fujimura

Takeshi Kubota

Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. (Independent)
Frederick Y. Dy (Independent)

CoNOGO LN~

The experience and background of Messrs. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. and Martin Antonio G.
Zamora, and of Messrs. Ang, Brimo, Virata, Fujimura, Kubota, Factoran, Jr., and Dy are
contained in pages 7 to 10 of this Information Statement.

The Company complied with the guidelines on the nomination and election of independent
directors prescribed in Rule 38 of the Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations of the
Securities Regulation Code (“‘SRC”). On 20 September 2010, the SEC approved the
amendment of the Company’s By-laws to incorporate the requirement of independent directors
pursuant to SRC Section 38, the definition of independent directors consistent with SRC
Implementing Rule 38, and the guidelines for election under relevant SEC guidelines.

Mr. Fulgencio S. Factoran Jr. was nominated by Mr. Philip T. Ang. Mr. Frederick Y. Dy was
nominated by Mr. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. Both hominees have accepted their nominations in
writing. There are no relationships between the foregoing nominees for independent director
and the persons who nominated them.

Executive Officers

The following persons are the present executive officers of the Company:

Jose B. Anievas (70 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Anievas is the Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company.
He is a seasoned (40 years) mining engineer/executive who started his career in Philex
Mining Corporation (“Philex”) and spent many years in Lepanto Consolidated Mining Co.
(“Lepanto”), rising to Executive Vice President. He is well known and highly respected in
the industry and is a member of the Professional Regulation Commission (Mining
Engineering), a Competent Person under the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code and an
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accredited APEC and ASEAN Engineer. While his expertise is in underground gold vein
operations, he has also had open pit experience in the St. Nifio mine of Philex and in
Manila Mining in Surigao del Norte. He also participated in the preparation of the
feasibility study for Lepanto's Far South East project.

Mr. Anievas obtained his Bachelor of Science in Mining Engineering Degree from the
Mapua Institute of Technology.

Emmanuel L. Samson (56 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Samson is the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company
and is responsible for the finance and treasury functions of the NAC Group. Prior to
joining the Company in 2006, Mr. Samson was Senior Country Officer for Credit Agricole
Indosuez in the Philippines. Mr. Samson has 11 years experience in the Philippine
equities markets having held positions with W.l. Carr Indosuez Securities (Phils.) Inc.,
Amon Securities Corporation and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation.

Mr. Samson obtained his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics from De la Salle
University — Manila.

Raymundo B. Ferrer (59 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Ferrer is the Senior Vice President for Security and Administration. He joined Nickel
Asia Corporation on May 2012. He is a retired Lieutenant General from the Armed
Forces of the Philippines. Some of his previous assignments prior to his compulsory
retirement on 23 Jan 2012 was Commander of Western Mindanao Command
(WESTMINCOM) based in Zamboanga City from 10 Nov 2011 to 23 Jan 2012;
Commander of Eastern Mindanao Command (EASTMINCOM) based in Davao City from
26 Jan 2009 to 10 Nov 2011; Commander of the 6th Infantry Division, Philippine Army
operating in Central Mindanao on 14 March 2007 to 25 January 2009; Commander of
the 1st Infantry Division, Philippine Army operating in Zamboanga Peninsula from 02
September 2006 to 14 March 2007; and Commander of 103rd Infantry Brigade in
Basilan Province from 24 January 2004 to 02 September 2006.

Mr. Ferrer obtained his Bachelor of Science degree from the Philippine Military Academy
and Masters in Public Administration from the National College of Business
Administration. He is a Bridging Leadership Fellow from the AIM Team Energy Center.

Rolando R. Cruz (55 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Cruz is the Vice President of Operations of the Company and is responsible for the
operations and engineering functions of the Company’s projects and the Company’s
Surigao and Dinagat-based operations. Mr. Cruz is a licensed mining engineer in the
Philippines with 25 years of professional experience in both mining operations and
project development in gold, copper, chromite, concrete aggregates, nickel, and oil
sands deposits using the open pit and underground bulk mining methods. He has held
various positions with firms such as Albian Sands Energy, Inc. (Canada), Berong Nickel
Corporation, Concrete Aggregates Corporation, Philex Mining Corporation, and Benguet
Corporation.

Mr. Cruz obtained his Bachelor of Science in Mining Engineering and Masters of
Science in Geotechnical Engineering from the Mapua Institute of Technology. He also
earned a Post-Graduate Certificate in Strategic Business Economics from the University
of Asia and the Pacific. Mr. Cruz placed second in the 1982 Licensure Examinations for
Mining Engineers.

12



Jose Roderick F. Fernando (42 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Fernando is the Vice President for Legal and Assistant Corporate Secretary of the
Company and is responsible for the Group’s legal matters. He is likewise the Corporate
Secretary of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr. Fernando is a member of the Integrated
Bar of the Philippines and was formerly a Commissioner of its Commission on Bar
Discipline. He is also licensed to practice law in the state of New York. Prior to joining
the Company in 2008, Mr. Fernando was a practicing lawyer with Balane, Tamase and
Alampay Law Office for 7 years, specializing in commercial litigation, labor and corporate
law.

Mr. Fernando obtained his Juris Doctor Degree from the Ateneo School of Law and his
Master of Law from the University of Pennsylvania Law School.

Augusto C. Villaluna (66 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Villaluna is the Vice President for Operations of the Company and is responsible for
the Rio Tuba and Taganito Nickel Mines of the Company. Mr. Villaluna is a licensed
Mining Engineer/Fellow with over 42 years experience in both underground and surface
mining. He last served as Executive Vice President of Lepanto Consolidated Mining
Company and Senior Vice President and member of the Board of Directors of Manila
Mining Corporation. He is a director of the Philippine Mine Safety an Environment
Association. He is a Competent Person under the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code, as
well as, a registered APEC and ASEAN Engineer. Engr. Villaluna sits as a member of
the Board of Mining Engineering of the Professional Regulations Commission.

Mr. Villaluna received his Bachelor of Science degree in Mining Engineering from the
Mapua Institute of Technology.

Gerardo Ignacio B. Ongkingco (56 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Ongkingco is the Vice President for Human Resources of the Company and is
responsible for human resources matters. His career in Human Resources started in the
early 1980’s and has been enriched with exposure to various industries; government,
manufacturing, agriculture and hospitality. He was past President of the Philippine
Quality and Productivity Movement (PQPM), Davao Chapter.

Mr. Ongkingco earned his Bachelor's Degree in Community Development as well as his
Masters in Industrial Relations from the University of the Philippines.

Koichi Ishihara (42 years old, Japanese)

Mr. Ishihara is the Vice President for Marketing and Purchasing of the Company and is
responsible for marketing and purchasing functions of the NAC Group. Prior to joining
the Company in 2011, he was a Manager and Philippine Representative of Pacific
Metals Co., Ltd. (PAMCO) handling nickel and stainless market analysis and update in
Asian countries. He has also supported establishing a Hydro Metallurgical Processing
Plant.

Mr. Ishihara received his Bachelor's Degree in English Language from Kanda University
of International Studies, Japan
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Jose Bayani D. Baylon (53 years old, Filipino)

Mr. Baylon is the Vice President for Corporate Communications. He joined Nickel Asia
on 1 June 2012. He has almost two decades of experience in the field of corporate
communications and public affairs. Prior to joining NAC, Mr. Baylon was Vice President
and Director for Public Affairs and Communications of The Coca-Cola Export
Corporation for 14 years, and, prior to that, was executive assistant and speechwriter to
Mr. Enrique Zobel at E. Zobel Inc. for nine (9) years. He was a public affairs
commentator at Radio Station DWWW 774 KhZ from 2001-2011 and has been
contributing opinion pieces to the newspaper Malaya Business Insight since 2001.

Mr. Baylon obtained his Bachelor of Arts in Political Science Degree from the University
of the Philippines.

Ma. Angela G. Villamor (50 years old, Filipino)

Ms. Villamor is a Vice President and Internal Auditor of the Company and is responsible
for reviewing the Company’s organizational and operational controls, risk management
policies, and governance. Prior to joining the Company in 2011, she was a Senior
Director in the Assurance Division of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. She also worked as
Senior Manager in KPMG UAE.

Ms. Villamor obtained her Bachelor of Science in Commerce degree from the University
of San Carlos. She completed the Management Development Programme from the
Asian Institute of Management.

Barbara Anne C. Migallos (60 years old, Filipino) Ms. Migallos received her Bachelor of
Arts degree in Political Science from the University of the Philippines and graduated cum
laude. She also graduated cum laude and Class Salutatorian from the U.P. College of
Law, with a Bachelor of Laws degree. She ranked 3rd in the 1979 Bar Examinations.

Ms. Migallos is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. A practicing lawyer since 1980,
Ms. Migallos focuses principally on corporate law, mergers and acquisitions, and
securities law. She has been a Director of Philex Petroleum Corporation from December
27, 2007 to June 11, 2008, and from May 18, 2010 to the present. She is a Director and
Corporate Secretary of Philex Mining and Corporate Secretary of Silangan Mindanao
Mining Co., Inc. She is the Managing Partner of the Migallos & Luna Law Offices. Ms.
Migallos is also a Director of Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation since 2000 and Philippine
Resins Industries since 2001, and Corporate Secretary of Eastern Telecommunications
Philippines, Inc. since 2005 and Nickel Asia Corporation since 2010. She is a
professorial lecturer in Corporations Law, Insurance, Securities Regulation and Credit
Transactions at the De La Salle University College of Law. She was a Senior Partner of
Roco Kapunan Migallos and Luna Law Offices from 1988 to 2006.

Significant Employees

No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business since the
Company considers the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall
success of the Company’s performance.
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Family Relationships

Director Martin Antonio G. Zamora is the son of the Chairman Manuel B. Zamora, Jr.

Aside from the above, there are no other family relationships up to the fourth civil degree among
any of the directors, executive officers and persons nominated or chosen to become directors or
executive officers.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

None of the directors, nominees for election as a director, executive officers or control persons
of the Company have been involved in any legal proceeding, including without limitation being
the subject of any:

a. bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a
general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two (2)
years prior to that time;

b. conviction by final judgment, including the nature of the offense, in a criminal
proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding,
domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses;

c. order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any
court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily
enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of
business, securities commodities or banking activities; and

d. order or judgment of a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil
action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign
Exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization finding
him/her to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation,

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The Company’s significant related party transactions, which are under terms that are no less
favorable than those arranged with third parties, and account balances are as follows:

Nickel Ore Sale Agreements with PAMCO

CMC and TMC supply saprolite ore to PAMCO. PAMCO is a stockholder of the Parent
Company and TMC. All sales made to PAMCO are transacted at prevailing market prices.
Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the ore products for a specific shipment
shall be based on LME. Effective April 2014, ore sales to PAMCO are benchmarked to China
prices on the basis of a negotiated price per WMT of ore. PAMCO shall pay the Group eighty
percent (80%) to ninety percent (90%) of the provisional invoice amount upon receipt of the
required documents and pay the final payment of each shipment after the final dry weight and
applicable assay have been determined.

Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with PAMCO and Sojitz Corporation (“Sojitz”’)

RTN supplies saprolite ore to PAMCO under a sale agreement, which shall continue to be valid
and in effect until December 2015, wherein PAMCO appointed Sojitz as agent. PAMCO owns
thirty six percent (36%) and Sojitz owns four percent (4%) of the outstanding shares in the
capital stock of RTN.
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Nickel Ore Sale Agreements with SMM

On 1 April 2011, RTN, TMC, HMC, CMC and SMM entered into an agreement to supply nickel
ore to the latter. The agreement shall be valid from April 2011 and shall continue to be valid
and in effect until December 2015.

Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC

RTN entered into an agreement with CBNC to supply all of the limonite ore requirements for the
Coral Bay Hydro Metallurgical Processing Plant (HPP) facility until the earlier of the cessation of
operations at the Coral Bay HPP facility and exhaustion of the limonite ore reserves at the Rio
Tuba mine. RTN has also entered into an agreement with CBNC to supply limestone and
provide ancillary services to the Coral Bay HPAL facility. CBNC is the owner of the Coral Bay
HPP facility.

Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with THNC

TMC entered into an agreement with THNC, a Philippine Corporation, covering the sale of its
ore products. Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the ore products for a
specific shipment shall be based on LME.

Service Agreements with CBNC
RTN entered into various service agreements with CBNC pertaining to tailings dam
construction, materials handling and others.

Materials Handling Agreement with THNC

On 7 October 2013, TMC and THNC executed an agreement wherein TMC will render services
related to the handling, hauling and transport of cargo for the latter. THNC shall compensate
TMC based on the prices stipulated in the agreement which are determined on the basis of the
weight of the cargo. Payment is collected within fifteen (15) days from receipt of TMC’s billing.

Funding Commitment with SMM

RTN’s long-term debt was incurred to complete infrastructure projects to support the
development of the Coral Bay HPAL facility. These projects included the causeway, trestles
and dolphins in the Rio Tuba foreshore and offshore areas.

Funding Commitment with THNC

TMC as owner/developer of Taganito Special Economic Zone (TSEZ) incurred a long-term debt
to finance the construction of the pier facilities that will be utilized to support the operations of
the Taganito HPAL facility. These projects included the jetty, dolphins, rubber fender,
jettybollard and other pier facilities in the Taganito foreshore and offshore areas.

THNC Stockholder’s Agreement

On 15 September 2010, NAC, SMM and Mitsui executed a Stockholders Agreement, pursuant
to which the parties formed a joint venture company, Taganito HPAL Nickel, to build and
operate a plant in Barangay Taganito, Claver, Surigao del Norte for the purpose of producing
and selling nickel-cobalt mixed sulfide to be used for the production of electrolytic nickel and
electrolytic cobalt.

Pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, SMM granted THNC a non-exclusive license of
technology owned by SMM to produce the products and has undertaken to provide technical
assistance to THNC. The Parent Company has undertaken to cause TMC to supply THNC with
nickel ore and limestone and to further cause TMC to make available to THNC the use of the
land and infrastructure necessary for the production of the products while Mitsui shall assist
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THNC in procuring materials and equipment necessary for the mine’s operations. The
Stockholders Agreement shall terminate upon the dissolution of THNC.

In a separate agreement, SMM, which also owns 62.5% of THNC, agreed to assume Parent
Company’s obligation to make loans to, or guarantee the repayment of, THNC’s loans
obligations. The Parent Company, in consideration for this agreement, pays SMM an annual
guarantee fee of 1% of THNC'’s outstanding loans obligation.

CBNC Stockholder Agreement

On 1 July 2002, RTN, along with the other stockholders of CBNC, agreed to make loans to
CBNC or guarantee the repayment of CBNC’s loans obligation in accordance with the financial
requirements of CBNC, in proportion to their shareholding ratio in CBNC.

In a separate agreement dated 22 October 2002, SMM, which owns 54% of CBNC, agreed to
assume RTN’s obligation to make loans to, or guarantee the repayment of CBNC’s loans
obligations. RTN, in consideration for this agreement, pays SMM an annual guarantee fee of
1% of CBNC'’s outstanding loans obligation.

As at 31 December 2013, RTN owns 10% of CBNC’s outstanding capital stock. The Parent
Company acquired its 10% direct ownership in CBNC by way of property dividend distributed by
RTN in March 2014.

Throughput Agreement with THNC

On 4 October 2010, TMC and THNC, a Philippine corporation, executed a Throughput
Agreement wherein TMC will construct the pier facilities within the TSEZ pursuant to its role as
Developer. The TSEZ is located within the Surigao Mineral Reservation, an area declared for
mineral development pursuant to Proclamation 391, under the supervision of the DENR that
issued an “Order to Use Offshore Area” dated 20 September 2010 to TMC for the use of such
portion of the Surigao Mineral Reservation for the construction of the pier facilities. In relation to
this, THNC entered into a Registration Agreement with the PEZA to construct and operate a
mineral processing plant within the TSEZ as an Ecozone Export Enterprise.

Under the agreement, TMC will make available the pier facilities and provide certain services to
THNC in consideration for usage fees and service fees to be paid by the latter starting April
2011 until 2031, unless terminated earlier. The usage fee amounted to $1,360,000 for each
semi-annual period to be paid on or before October 10 and April 10.

THNC also agrees to pay service fee that will be agreed upon by both parties which shall be
billed on a monthly basis.

Prior to the commencement date, THNC may also request TMC to use any part of the
constructed Pier Facilities, which is ready for use, upon payment of reasonable compensation
which shall be mutually agreed by TMC and THNC.

Throughput Agreement with CBNC

Under the agreement, CBNC shall pay RTN the price which consists of all its direct costs for the
pier facilities which includes but not limited to, financial costs, maintenance costs and tax as well
as indirect costs directly used for the pier facilities and the services as agreed by the parties.
CBNC shall pay to RTN in US dollars, as a part of such financial costs, the amounts to be paid
by RTN to SMM such as interests and loan repayments pursuant to the Omnibus Agreement
made and entered into by and between RTN and SMM. The agreement shall continue for
twenty-five (25) years after 25 November 2002 unless terminated earlier.
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Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

On 14 September 2009, the Parent Company and TMC entered into a MOU with SMM.
Pursuant to the terms thereof, the Parent Company and SMM will move ahead on a joint
venture basis to build a nickel-cobalt processing plant (the Project) using the HPAL technology
adjacent to TMC’s mine in Surigao del Norte, while TMC will supply low-grade nickel ore to the
plant over the life of the Project. The estimated cost of the Project is $1.42 billion which is
further increased t0$1.59 billion, over a three-year construction period, which started in the last
quarter of 2010. The plant will have an annual capacity of 51,000 dry metric tons of mixed
nickel-cobalt sulfide over an estimated 30-year project life. The MOU provides that the equity
share of the Company and SMM shall be 20%-25% and 75%-80%, respectively.

Following the MOU is the Taganito HPAL Stockholders Agreement (the Agreement) entered into
by the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui, on 15 September 2010 stating that the Project will be
undertaken by THNC, a company that will be jointly owned by the Company, SMM and Mitsui
with equity interest of 22.5%, 62.5% and 15.0%, respectively. Pursuant to the Agreement, SMM
granted THNC a non-exclusive license of technology owned by SMM to produce the products
and has undertaken to provide technical assistance to THNC. The Company has undertaken to
cause TMC to supply THNC with nickel ore and limestone and to further cause TMC to make
available to THNC the use of the land and infrastructure necessary for the production of the
products while Mitsui shall assist THNC in procuring materials and equipment necessary for the
mine’s operations.

It also sets forth the respective rights and obligations of the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui,
including their responsibilities in respect of financing the US$1,420.0 million, which further
increased to US$1,590.0 million, project investment that will be undertaken by THNC.

The agreement shall terminate upon the dissolution of THNC.

On 20 November 2012, the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui made additional investment of
US$287.2 million in the form of loans to THNC. SMM had agreed to substitute for the Parent
Company to make these loans for which the latter pays guarantee service fee.

On 4 August 2014 and 4 October 2013, the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui agreed to extend
another loans to THNC amounting to US$117.7 million to cover the latter's working capital
requirement and US$90.0 million for the construction of the tailings dam, respectively.

Loan Guarantee/Substitution Agreement

RTN

Under a loan guarantee service agreement dated 22 October 2002 between RTN and SMM, the
latter agreed to satisfy RTN’s CBNC loan obligations in consideration of the payment by RTN to
SMM of an annual fee equal to one percent (1%) of the relevant outstanding amount.

The fee is payable every February 21 and August 20 of each year. In case of default, such loan
guarantee service agreement will be terminated and RTN shall provide loans to CBNC or
guarantee the repayment of CBNC’s loans payable. Failure to provide such loans or guarantee
shall be considered a default under the CBNC Stockholder Agreement.
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NAC

Under a loan guarantee/substitution agreement dated 9 December 2011 between NAC and
SMM, the latter agreed to substitute for NAC to make loans or guarantee the repayment of
THNC pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement dated 15 September 2010.

In consideration of the loans and guarantee made by SMM, NAC shall pay to SMM an annual
fee equal to one percent (1%) of the relevant outstanding amount, which is payable every
February 21 and August 21 of each year.

On 18 December 2013 and 3 December 2013, NAC and SMM entered into another loan
guarantee/substitution agreement with respect to the new loan agreement made and entered by
THNC and SMM on 3 December 2013 and 31 January 2013, respectively. The annual fee is
also equal to 1% of the relevant outstanding amount, which is payable every March 21 and
September 21 of each year.

In case of default, such loan guarantee/substitution agreements will be terminated and NAC
shall provide loans to THNC or guarantee the repayment of THNC's loans payable. Failure to
provide such loans or guarantee shall be considered a default under the Stockholders'
Agreement.

Lease Agreement with THNC

On 31 October 2013, TMC and THNC executed a lease agreement wherein TMC will lease the
land within the TSEZ to the lessee. The TSEZ leased area of approximately 675 hectares
located at Barangays Taganito and Hayanggabon, Claver, Surigao del Norte. The duration of
the lease agreement shall be a period of twenty (20) years starting 1 January 2013, however,
rental rate shall be annually agreed by both parties.

Loan Agreement with EPI

On 22 August 2014, the Company and Emerging Power Inc. (EPI) executed a loan agreement
amounting to B551.0 million which is to be drawn in two (2) tranches. The first and second
tranche of the loan is P105.0 million and P446.0 million, respectively, with an interest rate of
2% p. a.

The loan agreement states that EPI shall pay interest on all outstanding amounts of the first
tranche loan and on the second tranche loan at the rate of 2% p. a., payable on the first tranche
repayment date for the first tranche loan and on the second tranche repayment date for the
second tranche loan.

The proceeds of the first tranche loan shall be used by EPI to fund activities preparatory to
drilling and for the drilling of the initial two (2) wells under the Montelago Geothermal Project,
while the second tranche loan shall be used to fund the drilling costs and related activities (to
include slim or other test holes) on the said initial two (2) wells.

The Company may convert the entire second tranche loan, and not any smaller portion thereof,
into shares of stock of EPI constituting fifty five percent (55%) of its total issued and outstanding
shares, at any time before the lapse of three hundred sixty five (365) days after drawdown of the
entire second tranche loan (the Conversion Period). The Company may exercise such right of
conversion by serving notice in writing to EPI (the Conversion Notice) within the Conversion
Period. Upon receipt of a Conversion Notice, EPI shall issue such number of its shares taken
from its authorized but unissued shares which, upon issuance, shall constitute fifty five percent
(55%) of the issued and outstanding shares of stock of EPI.
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For and to secure the loan and the notes covering the same, EPI shall pledge its shares of stock
in OMCP consisting one hundred percent (100%) of OMCP’s issued and outstanding shares,
execute and deliver a Pledge Agreement covering the said shares.

During 2014, the first tranche loan in the amount of P105.0 million and forty percent (40%) of
the second tranche loan in the amount of P178.4 million were already released to EPI.

Notes 31 and 36 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2014, is
incorporated hereto by reference.
Item 6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

Directors’ compensation is on a per diem basis as follow:

Audit and Risk
Board Committee Other
Type Meeting Meeting Meetings Stock Option

Executive Director £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 Yes
Non-executive

Director 10,000 10,000 10,000 Yes
Independent

Director 150,000 50,000 10,000 Yes

Currently, there are no arrangements for additional compensation of directors.

Officers of the Company receive such remuneration as the Board may determine upon
recommendation of the Compensation (Remuneration) Committee.

The following table shows the compensation of the directors and officers for the past two
completed fiscal years and estimated to be paid for the ensuing fiscal year:

SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION TABLE
(In Thousands)

DIRECTORS
Year Directors' Fee
2015 (estimated) 2,312
2014 2,211
2013 1,212
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The following table identifies the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and four most highly
compensated executive officers (the “named executive officers”) and summarizes their
aggregate compensation in 2013 and 2014 and estimated 2015:

NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

NAME POSITION

Gerard H. Brimo President & CEO

Emmanuel L. Samson Chief Financial Officer

Jose S. Saret Former Chief Operating Officer
Rolando R. Cruz Vice President of Operations
Martin Antonio G. Zamora Vice President for Marketing and

Strategic Planning

Total Officers'

Year Salary Bonus Total
2015 (estimated) P 33,246 P 13,945 P 47,191

2014 32,191 29,624 61,815

2013 29,129 16,482 45,611

ALL DIRECTORS & OFFICERS AS A GROUP

Year Salary Bonus Total
2015 (estimated) 26,711 21,611 48,322
2014 20,395 16,780 37,175
2013 15,360 8,135 23,495

Compensation of Directors

There are no other arrangements under which the Company’s directors and officers were
compensated, or are to be compensated, directly or indirectly, except as described above.
Executive Directors are eligible participants under the 2010 Executive Stock Option Plan. All
directors are eligible to participate in the 2014 Stock Option Plan approved by the shareholders
during the 6 June 2014 Annual General Meeting.

Employment Contracts

There are no special employment contracts between the Company and its named executive
officers.

Warrants and Options Outstanding

On 16 June 2010, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved the NAC Executive Stock
Option Plan (the “the Plan”) covering 12,000,000 shares of stock. The Plan was duly approved
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on 20 December 2010.

On 8 June 2012, the stockholders approved the declaration of a 50% stock dividend and the
adjustment of the number of shares under the Plan in view of the effect of the stock dividend.

On 19 March 2013, the SEC issued a resolution approving the exemption of 4,457,156 common
shares for the Plan from registration.
21



On 3 June 2013, the stockholders approved the declaration of a 25% stock dividend and the
adjustment of the number of shares under the Plan in view of the effect of the stock dividend.
On 2 September 2013, the SEC issued a resolution exempting 3,030,058 common shares for
the Plan from the registration requirement.

Several executive officers exercised their options under the Plan totaling to 11,431,005 shares,
1,851,218 shares and 2,485,683 shares in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

On 24 March 2014, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of a new Stock Option Plan
(the “New Plan”) for officers of the Company and its operating subsidiaries, and Resident Mine
Managers. Directors will likewise be eligible to participate in the New Plan. The New Plan was
approved by the shareholders during the annual shareholders' meeting held on 6 June 2014.
On 21 November 2014, the SEC issued a resolution exempting 32,000,000 common shares for
the New Plan from the registration requirement.

On 18 December 2014, the stockholders approved the declaration of a 50% stock dividend and
the adjustment of the number of shares under the New Plan in view of the effect of the stock
dividend. On 3 March 2015, an application for exemption from the registration requirement of
the said adjustment was filed with the SEC.

Item 7. Independent Public Accountants

The appointment, approval or ratification of the Company’s independent public accountant will
be submitted to the shareholders for approval at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on 5 June
2015.

The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended, and the Board of Directors has approved,
the reappointment of the accounting firm of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co (“SGV & Co”). SGV & Co
has been the Company’s independent auditor since its incorporation in July 2008.

The Company’s certifying partner, Eleanor A. Layug, signed the Company’s Audited Financial
Statements for 2014, a copy of which is attached to this Information Statement as an Exhibit to
the Annual Report. The Corporation has been advised that the SGV auditors assigned to render
audit-related services have no shareholdings in the Company, or a right, whether legally
enforceable or not, to nominate persons or to subscribe to the securities of the Company,
consistent with the professional standards on independence set by the Board of Accountancy
and the Professional Regulation Commission.

Representatives of SGV & Co will be present at the scheduled stockholders meeting. They will
have the opportunity to make a statement should they desire to do so and will be available to
respond to appropriate questions.

External Audit Fees and Services

Audit and Audit-Related Fees

For 2014, 2013 and 2012, independent accountants were engaged to express an opinion on the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, and to assist in the preparation of the
income tax returns of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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A regular audit was carried out in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards. The audit fees for these services were Php10.506 million for 2014, Php10.201
million for 2013, and Php9.809 million for 2012.

The non-audit fees were Php1.878 million for 2014 Php1.227 million for 2013, and Php1.779
million for 2012. Fees for audit and non-audit work are subject to approval of the Audit and Risk
Committee before the start of the engagement.

Tax Fees

There were no tax-related services rendered by the independent auditors other than the
assistance rendered in the preparation of the income tax returns which formed part of the
regular audit engagement.

All Other Fees

Aside from the transfer pricing study, there were no other professional services rendered by the
independent auditors.

Audit and Risk Committee’s Approval Policies and Procedures

The Company constituted an Audit and Risk Committee in accordance with its Manual on
Corporate Governance, which discloses the Audit and Risk Committee’s terms of
reference/governance. The Audit and Risk Committee is composed of Frederick Y. Dy
(Chairman and Independent Director), Gerard H. Brimo and Takanori Fujimura.

On 3 August 2012, the Audit and Risk Committee adopted its Audit Committee Charter, which
sets forth in detail the Committee’s purpose, authority, duties and responsibilities, as well as its
structure and procedures. A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s
website.

The Committee’s approval policies and procedures for external audit fees and services are
stated in the Manual on Corporate Governance and the Charter of the Audit and Risk
Committee.

The Committee performs oversight functions over the Company’s external auditors. Prior to the
commencement of audit work, the independent accountants shall make a presentation of their
audit program and schedule to the Committee, including a discussion of anticipated issues on
the audit work to be done.

After audit work, the independent accountants shall present its comprehensive report discussing
the work carried out, areas of interest and their key findings and observations to the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosures

There has been no change in the Company’s independent accountants since the Company’s
incorporation in 2008 Since 2013, the audit engagement partner is Ms. Eleanore A.
Layug. There have been no disagreements with the said independent accountants.
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C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES

Item 9. Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange
(a) Title and Amount of Securities to be Authorized or Issued

The Company will increase its authorized capital stock from Two Billion One Hundred Thirty
Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos (Php 2,139,700,000.00) divided into Four Billion
Two Hundred Sixty Five Million (4,265,000,000) common shares with a par value of Fifty
Centavos (Php0.50) per share and Seven Hundred Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred
shares with par value of One Centavo (Php0.01) per share to Nine Billion Six Hundred Thirty
Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos (Php9,639,700,000.00) divided into Nineteen
Billion Two Hundred Sixty Five Million (19,265,000,000) common shares with a par value of Fifty
Centavos (Php0.50) per share and Seven Hundred Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred
shares with par value of One Centavo (Php0.01) per share, which will entail an increase in the
number of common shares by 15,000,000,000, and will issue 3,795,885,515 shares as 100%
stock dividend. This will bring total outstanding common shares from 3,795,885,515 as of record
date to 7,591,771,030 shares. The record date of the dividend shall be determined in
accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Philippine
Stock Exchange (PSE), and after the approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock
of the Company have been obtained. The outstanding preferred shares shall remain at
720,000,000 shares at Php 0.01 par value each.

(b) Description of Registrant’s Securities

The Company currently has an authorized capital stock of Two Billion One Hundred Thirty Nine
Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos (Php 2,139,700,000.00) divided into Four Billion Two
Hundred Sixty Five Million (4,265,000,000) common shares with a par value of Fifty Centavos
(Php0.50) per share and Seven Hundred Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred shares with
par value of One Centavo (Php0.01) per share. As of 31 March 2015, 3,795,885,515 common
shares and 720,000,000 preferred shares are outstanding.

Stockholders holding common shares enjoy dividend and voting rights, pro rata to their
shareholdings. Stockholders with preferred shares have the same right to vote as common
shares but shall not participate in dividends declared by the Company and with a fixed
cumulative dividend rate of seven percent (7%) per annum. Aside from these and all other rights
of shareholders under the Corporation Code, stockholders of the Company have no other
material rights.

There are no provisions in the Company’s by-laws that would delay, defer or prevent a change
in control of the Company.

(c) Description of Transaction

An amendment of Article Seventh of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation will be submitted
for approval during the Annual General Meeting of the stockholders to increase the authorized
capital stock from Two Billion One Hundred Thirty Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos
(Php 2,139,700,000.00) divided into Four Billion Two Hundred Sixty Five Million (4,265,000,000)
common shares with a par value of Fifty Centavos (Php0.50) per share and Seven Hundred
Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred shares with par value of One Centavo (Php0.01) per
share to Nine Billion Six Hundred Thirty Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos
(Php9,639,700,000.00) divided into Nineteen Billion Two Hundred Sixty Five Million
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(19,265,000,000) common shares with a par value of Fifty Centavos (Php0.50) per share and
Seven Hundred Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred shares with par value of One Centavo
(Php0.01) per share. In support of the said increase in authorized capital stock, the Board of
Directors declared a one hundred percent (100%) stock dividend for all common shares or a
total of 3,795,885,515 common shares (Php 1,897,942,757.50 at Php 0.50 par value each) shall
be distributed as stock dividends. Adjustments will be made to the number of shares reserved
for the Company's stock option plans.

The record date for the entitlement to stock dividends shall be determined in accordance with
the rules of the SEC and PSE after the approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital
stock of the Company have been obtained. Each stockholder as of said record date will receive
such number of stock dividend shares as he is entitled equivalent to one hundred percent
(100%) of his existing shareholding. Fractional shares will be rounded down to the nearest
whole number.

The Corporation will not receive any consideration for the issuance of the shares as stock
dividend.

Item 11. Finance and Other information

Copies of the Management Report, the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2014 are attached hereto.

The Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
are stated on pages 1-17 of the attached Management Report. The notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements are incorporated hereto by reference.

The Company has not made any changes in and has not had any disagreements with its
external auditor on accounting and financial disclosures.

Representatives of the Company's external auditor, SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV) are
expected to be present at the stockholders' meeting. They will have the opportunity to make a
statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate
questions.

D. OTHER MATTERS

Item 15. Action with Respect to Reports
Action is to be taken on the reading and approval of the following:
1. Minutes of the Previous Stockholders’ Meeting

The Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 6 June 2014 and the Minutes
of the Special Stockholders’ Meeting held on 18 December 2014 are available for
inspection by stockholders at the principal offices of the Company. A copy of said
Minutes is also posted on the Company’s website. Copies of said minutes will also be
made available upon request at the venue of the next annual stockholders’ meeting.

Matters taken up during the 2014 Stockholders’ Meeting were the: (i) reading and
approval of the Minutes of the 2013 Stockholders’ Meeting; (ii) presentation and
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approval of the Annual Report including the Audited Financial Statements for 2013; (iii)
approval of Stock Option Plan; (iv) amendment of Articles of Incorporation to change
place of business to Taguig City in compliance with the Corporation Code and SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 3, series of 2006; (v) ratification and approval of the acts of
the Board and Officers and Executive Officers for 2014; (vi) appointment of Sycip,
Gorres Velayo & Co. as external auditors; and (vii) election of Directors of the Company
for 2014.

The sole matter taken up during the Special Stockholders’ Meeting held on 18
December 2014 was the declaration of fifty percent (50%) stock dividend.

2. Management Reports

The Company’s Management Report, which includes the Audited Financial Statements
for 2014, will be submitted for approval by the stockholders. A copy of the Management
Report is attached to this Information Statement. Upon written request, shareholders
shall be provided with a copy of the Company’s Annual Report on SEC Form 17-A free
of charge (please see page 29).

Item 17. Amendment of Charter

On 27 March 2015, the Board of Directors approved the Company’s increase in authorized
capital stock from Two Billion One Hundred Thirty Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos
(Php 2,139,700,000.00) divided into Four Billion Two Hundred Sixty Five Million (4,265,000,000)
common shares with a par value of Fifty Centavos (Php0.50) per share and Seven Hundred
Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred shares with par value of One Centavo (Php0.01) per
share to Nine Billion Six Hundred Thirty Nine Million Seven Hundred Thousand Pesos
(Php9,639,700,000.00) divided into Nineteen Bilion Two Hundred Sixty Five Million
(19,265,000,000) common shares with a par value of Fifty Centavos (Php0.50) per share and
Seven Hundred Twenty Million (720,000,000) preferred shares with par value of One Centavo
(Php0.01) per share, and the corresponding amendment to the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation. The said increase in capital stock will be supported by the 100% stock dividend
discussed in Item 9, pages 24 to 25.

Item 18. Other Proposed Action

Action is to be taken on the ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and
executive officers for the corporate year 2014 — 2015. The resolution to be adopted will be the
ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and executive officers for the year
2014.

Meetings of the Board of Directors were held on 24 March 2014, 6 May 2014, 22 May 2014, 6
June 2014, 8 August 2014, 10 November 2014, 13 January 2015, and 27 March 2015.

At these meetings, principal matters discussed included the presentation of detailed operations
and financial reports. Operations reports included market information and metal prices, volume
of production and sales, and business development updates. Financial reports included
consolidated and per segment figures on revenue, costs and expenses, other income and
charges, income or loss before tax, net income or loss, balance sheet and statements of cash
flows. In addition to these regular reports, the Board approved the matters set forth below.
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At the meeting held on 6 May 2014, the Board approved the 2014 first quarter unaudited
financial statements. During the same meeting, the Board approved the appointment of Mr.
Emmanuel L. Samson, Chief Financial Officer, as Corporate Governance Officer, and Sycip
Gorres Velayo & Co., as external auditors of the Company. The Board also approved the grant
of a one-year $10.2 Million loan to the Montelago Project.

On 22 May 2014, the Board approved the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
and the adoption of CG policies on: Conflict of Interest, Insider Trading, Procurement
Governance: Suppliers & Purchasing, Gifts, Hospitality and Sponsored Travel, and Employee
Disclosures and Complaints (Whistle Blowing Policy).

At the organizational meeting held on 6 June 2014, the Board elected the officers of the
Company and designated the members of the Board Committees.

At the meeting on 8 August 2014, the Board approved the 2014 first half unaudited financial
statements, and the full year revised forecast mainly due to an increase in budgeted volume,
and higher average realized price of ores. The revised terms of the loan to the Montelago
Project was approved by the Board, to wit, Tranche 1 loan for $2.4 Million is non-convertible and
Tranche 2 loan for $10.2 Million is convertible at the option of the Company to 55% equity in
Emerging Power, Inc. The Board also approved and ratified the revised Corporate Governance
Manual, which was revised in compliance with SEC Memo Circular No. 9, series of 2014.

At the meeting on 10 November 2014, the Board approved the financial report for the first nine
(9) months of 2014, opening of investment accounts, designating signatories to the said
accounts, and the opening of a credit facility, designating signatories thereto. The Board also
approved the 2015 budget. At the same meeting, the Board approved the declaration of a cash
dividend of R0.50 per share, and the declaration of a 50% stock dividend, subject to
shareholders’ approval. For this purpose, the Board approved the calling of a special
stockholders’ meeting on 18 December 2014. During the said special stockholders’ meeting,
shareholders holding at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock approved the 50% stock
dividend and the adjustments to the number of shares reserved for the Company’s stock option
plans.

At the special meeting held on 13 January 2015, the Board approved the appointment of Mr.
Augusto C. Villaluna as Vice President — Operations and Mr. Gerardo Ignacio B. Ongkingco as
Vice President — Human Resources. The Board also approved the adjustments to the grants
under the Company’s stock option plans due to the effects of the 50% stock dividend approved
by the shareholders during the special meeting held on 18 December 2014.

At the meeting held on 27 March 2015, the Board approved the Company’s audited financial
statements as of 31 December 2014; declaration of a cash dividend of P1.00 per share;
declaration of a 100% stock dividend, subject to shareholders’ approval; the Company’s
retirement plan, as approved by the Compensation (Remuneration) Committee; the conversion
of the loan to the Montelago Project to equity, and additional investments in Emerging Power
Inc. At the same meeting, the Board scheduled the Company’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting
on 5 June 2015.
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Item 19. Voting Procedures

Under the Company’s policy for the effective participation by shareholders in shareholders’
meetings of the Company and the exercise of shareholders’ right to vote:

1. Voting shall be by balloting or poll at all shareholders’ meetings.

2. Voting and vote tabulation procedures shall be explained in the materials for
shareholders’ meetings (which shall be distributed to shareholders at least 28 days prior
to the meeting) and at the start of every meeting.

3. Tabulation and validation of votes shall be undertaken by an independent party
appointed by the Company. For the 2015 AGM, Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co., the
Company’s independent external auditor shall work with STSI, the Company’s stock
transfer agent, to tabulate and validate the votes.

4. Voting results for each item on the agenda shall be announced during the meeting and
shall be made publicly available immediately.

Stockholders as of 15 April 2015 may vote at the Annual General Stockholders’ Meeting on 5
June 2015. Stockholders have the right to vote in person or by proxy.

Approval of the matters requiring stockholder action as set forth in the Agenda and this
Information Statement would require the affirmative vote of the stockholders owning at least a
majority of the outstanding voting capital stock except for two items which will require the
affirmative vote of stockholders representing 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock, i.e., the
declaration of a 100% stock dividend and the increase in authorized capital stock of the
Company from Php2,139,700,000.00 to Php9,639,700,000.00 will require the affirmative vote of
shareholders holding at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock.

In the election of directors, cumulative voting may be adopted. On this basis, each stockholder
as of 15 April 2015 may vote the number of shares registered in his name for each of the nine
(9) directors to be elected, or he may multiply the number of shares registered in his name by
nine (9) and cast the total of such votes for one (1) director, or he may distribute his votes
among some or all of the nine (9) directors to be elected. The nine (9) nominees with the
greatest number of votes will be elected directors.

PART Il

(PLEASE SEE SEPARATE PROXY FORM)

28



PART Il

SIGNATURE PAGE

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, | certify that the information
set forth in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in the City of Makati on 17
April 2015.

By: N

B CiMIGALLOS

Corporate Secfetary

UPON THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF THE STOCKHOLDER, THE COMPANY UNDERTAKES TO
FURNISH SAID STOCKHOLDER A COPY OF THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL REPORT ON SEC FORM 17-
A, AS FILED WITH THE SEC FREE OF CHARGE. ANY WRITTEN REQUEST SHALL BE ADDRESSED
TO:

ATTY. BARBARA ANNE C. MIGALLOS
Corporate Secretary

NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION
28" Floor, NAC Tower, 32™ Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City, Metro Manila

NIKL prelim 20-IS 2015
JCL
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PROXY

The undersigned stockholder of NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION (the “Company”) hereby appoints
or in his absence, the Chairman of the meeting, as attorney-in-fact or
proxy, with power of substitution, to represent and vote all shares registered in his/her name as proxy of the
undersigned stockholder, at the Annual General Meeting of Stockholders of the Company to be held at the
Ascott Ballroom, 5" Floor Ascott Bonifacio Global City, 5" Avenue corner 28" Street, Bonifacio Global City,
Taguig, Metro Manila on 5 June 2015 at 2:00 p.m. and at any of the adjournments thereof for the purpose of
acting on the following matters:

1. Approval of minutes of annual stockholders’ meeting held on 6 June 2014 and special stockholders’ meeting
held on 18 December 2014
[] Yes [] No [] Abstain

N

Approval of annual reports and Audited Financial Statements for the year ending 31 December 2014
] Yes ] No [J Abstain

3. Amendment of Article Seventh of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase Authorized Capital Stock
from Php2,139,700,000.00 to Php9,639,700,000.00

] Yes [ No [ Abstain

4. Declaration of one hundred percent (100%) stock dividend
[] Yes [J] No [ Abstain

5. Ratification and approval of the acts of the Board of Directors and executive officers
1 Yes [0 No [ Abstain

6. Appointment of Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. as independent auditors

[] Yes [ No [] Abstain

7. Election of Directors
[ ] Vote for all nominees listed below:

Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. Takanori Fujimura

Gerard H. Brimo Takeshi Kubota

Martin Antonio G. Zamora Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. (Independent)
Philip T. Ang Frederick Y. Dy (Independent)

Luis J. L. Virata
] Withhold authority for all nominees listed above

1 Withhold authority to vote for the nominees listed below:

8. At their discretion, the proxies named above are authorized to vote upon such other matters as may
properly come before the meeting.

Date Printed Name of Stockholder

Signature of Stockholder/ Authorized Signatory

This proxy should be received by the Corporate Secretary on or before 25 May 2015, the deadline for
submission of proxies.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner as directed herein by the stockholder(s). If
no direction is made, this proxy will be voted “for” the election of all nominees and for the approval of the



matters stated above and for such other matters as may properly come before the meeting in the manner
described in the information statement and/or as recommended by management or the board of directors.

A proxy submitted by a corporation should be accompanied by a Corporate Secretary’s Certificate quoting
the board resolution designating a corporate officer to execute the proxy. Proxies executed by brokers must
be accompanied by a certification under oath stating that the broker has obtained the written consent of the
account holder.

A stockholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time before the right granted is exercised. A
proxy is also considered revoked if the stockholder attends the meeting in person and expresses his intention
to vote in person. This proxy shall be valid for five (5) years from the date hereof unless otherwise indicated

in the box herein provided.

No director or executive officer, nominee for election as director, or associate of such director, executive
officer of nominee of the Company, at any time since the beginning of the last fiscal year, has any substantial
interest, direct or indirect by security holdings or otherwise, in any of the matters to be acted upon in the
meeting, other than election to office.



REPORT ACCOMPANYING THE INFORMATION STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT REPORT

. Financial Statements

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2014 in compliance with SRC Rule 68, as amended, is attached to the
Information Statement and is incorporated by reference.

The Company undertakes to timely file the Interim Financial Statements under SEC Form 17-Q
for the period ended 31 March 2015 and furnish the same to the stockholders at the Annual
General Meeting of the Stockholders on 5 June 2015.

ll. Information on Independent Accountants and other Related Matters

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 have
been audited by SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co (“SGV & Co0”) (a member practice of Ernst & Young
Global Limited), independent auditors, as stated in their reports appearing herein.

Ms. Eleanore A. Layug is the Company’s current audit partner. We have not had any
disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with our current external auditors for the
same periods or any subsequent interim period.

There were no disagreements with SGV & Co. on any matter of accounting and financial
disclosure.

The following table sets out the aggregate fees incurred for the year 2014 and 2013 for
professional services rendered by SGV & Co.:

2014 2013
(In Thousands)
Audit and Audit-Related Services P10,506 P10,201
Non-Audit Services 1,878 1,227
Total P12,384 P11,428

lll. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following discussion and analysis is based on the audited consolidated financial statements
as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and
accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements.



The Group has not, in the past five years and since its incorporation, revised its financial
statements for reasons other than changes in accounting policies.

Summary Financial Information
The Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are hereto attached.

The following table sets forth the summary financial information for the three years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and as at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Summary Consolidated Statements of Income

For the Years Ended Horizontal Analysis
Dec 31 Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 % 2013 vs. 2012 %
(In thousand pesos)
Revenues 24,745,704 11,109,529 11,606,907 13,636,175 123% (497,378) -4%
Cost and expenses (10,445,770) (7,562,413) (7,458,036) ~ 2883357~ 38% 104,377 7 1%
Finance income 172,104 166,753 235,040 5,351 3% (68,287) -29%
Finance expenses (164,369) (128,298) (114,536) 36,071 28% 13,762 12%
Equity in net income (losses) of
associates 522,380 (184,703) (114,639) (707,083) -383% 70,064 61%
Other income - net 470,897 309,783 300262 161,114 ~ 52% 9,521 -3%
Provision for income tax - net (4,292,827) (1,124,215) (1,334,698) 3,168,612 282% (210,483) -16%
Net income 11,008,119 2,586,436 3,120,300 8,421,683 326% (533,864) 17%
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 8,551,627 2,053,674 2,207,210 6,497,953 316% (153,536) -7%
Non-controlling interests 2,456,492 532,762 913,090 1,923,730 361% (380,328) -42%
11,008,119 2,586,436 3,120,300 8,421,683 326% (533,864) -17%
Summary Consolidated Statements of Income
For the Years Ended Vertical Analysis
Dec 31 Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 % 2013 vs. 2012 %
(In thousand pesos)
Revenues 24,745,704 11,109,529 11,606,907 13,636,175 162% (497,378) 93%
Cost and expenses (10,445,770) (7,562,413) (7,458,036) 2,883,357 34% 104,377 -20%
Finance income 172,104 166,753 235,040 5,351 0% (68,287) 13%
Finance expenses (164,369) (128,298) (114,536) 36,071 0% 13,762 -3%
Equity in net income (losses) of
associates 522,380 (184,703) (114,639) (707,083) -8% 70,064 -13%
Other income - net 470,897 309,783 300,262 161,114 2% 9,521 -2%
Provision for income tax - net (4,292,827) (1,124,215) (1,334,698) 3,168,612 38% (210,483) 39%
Net income 11,008,119 2,586,436 3,120,300 8,421,683 100% (533,864) 100%
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 8,551,627 2,053,674 2,207,210 6,497,953 77% (153,536) 29%
Non-controlling interests 2,456,492 532,762 913,090 1,923,730 23% (380,328) 71%
11,008,119 2,586,436 3,120,300 8,421,683 100% (533,864) 100%




Summary Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Horizontal Analysis

2014 2013 2012 Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
(In Thousand Pesos) 2014 vs. 2013 % 2013 vs. 2012 %

Current assets 20,611,470 14,601,036 13,449,547 6,010,434 41% 1,151,489 9%
Noncurrent assets 14,572,438 14,312,492 13,729,670 259,946 2% 582,822 4%
Total assets 35,183,908 28,913,528 27,179,217 6,270,380 22% 1,734,311 6%
Current liabilities 2,114,567 1,308,963 1,275,729 805,604 62% 33,234 3%
Noncurrent liabilities 2,166,995 2,392,777 2,321,784 (225,782) -9% 70,993 3%
Non-controlling interests 3,716,715 4,721,640 4,705,278 (1,004,925) -21% 16,362 0%
Equity attributable to

equity holders of the Parent 27,185,631 20,490,148 18,876,426 6,695,483 33% 1,613,722 9%
Total liabilities and equity 35,183,908 28,913,528 27,179,217 6,270,380 22% 1,734,311 6%

Summary Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Vertical Analysis
2014 2013 2012 Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
(In Thousand Pesos) 2014 vs. 2013 % 2013 vs. 2012 %

Current assets 20,611,470 14,601,036 13,449,547 6,010,434 96% 1,151,489 66%
Noncurrent assets 14,572,438 14,312,492 13,729,670 259,946 4% 582,822 34%
Total assets 35,183,908 28,913,528 27,179,217 6,270,380  100% 1,734,311 100%
Current liabilities 2,114,567 1,308,963 1,275,729 805,604 13% 33,234 2%
Noncurrent liabilities 2,166,995 2,392,777 2,321,784 (225,782)  -4% 70,993 4%
Non-controlling interests 3,716,715 4,721,640 4,705,278 (1,004,925) -16% 16,362 1%
Equity attributable to -

equity holders of the Parent 27,185,631 20,490,148 18,876,426 6,695,483 107% 1,613,722 93%
Total liabilities and equity 35,183,908 28,913,528 27,179,217 6,270,380  100% 1,734,311 100%

Summary Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In Thousand Pesos)

Net cash flows from (used in):

Operating activities 11,261,684 4,120,922 4,078,964

Investing activities (2,480,161) (1,913,083) (3,298,652)

Financing activities (5,550,515) (1,310,079) (1,759,134)
Net increase (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents 3,231,008 897,760 (978,822)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 10,234,336 9,263,451 10,350,592
Effect of exchange rate changes in

cash and cash equivalents 96,459 73,125 (108,319)
Cash and cash equivalents, end 13,561,803 10,234,336 9,263,451

Results of Operations

Calendar year ended December 31, 2014 compared with calendar year ended December
31, 2013

Revenues
Our total revenues were R24,745.7 million in 2014 as compared to 211,109.5 million in 2013, an
increase of 13,636.2 million, or 123%.



Sale of ore

We sold an aggregate 17,873.3 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2014, an increase of 28%
compared to 13,998.4 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2013. Our sales for this year included
5,740.5 thousand WMT of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese customers, 4,568.2
thousand WMT of limonite ore to our Chinese customers, 158.4 thousand WMT of limonite ore
to an Australian company and 7,406.2 thousand WMT of limonite ore to CBNC and THNC
compared to sales of 3,594.2 thousand WMT, 6,124.7 thousand WMT, nil and 4,279.5 thousand
WMT, respectively, in 2013.

The growth in shipment volumes was largely the result of increased ore deliveries to the HPAL
plants, in particular to the Taganito HPAL facility, now on its first full year of commercial
operations. The said plant was still in its pre-operating stage last year. As a result, total ore
deliveries to the two HPAL plants reached 7,406.2 thousand WMT in 2014 compared to 4,279.5
thousand WMT in 2013. The direct exports of ore likewise contributed to our higher shipments,
increasing from 9,718.9 thousand WMT in 2013 to

10,467.1 thousand WMT in 2014.

Our revenue from sale of nickel ore was R23,736.6 million in 2014 compared to R10,321.7
million in 2013, an increase of RP13,414.9 million or 130%. The effect of the Indonesian ore
export ban has led to significantly higher ore prices in 2014. On a US dollar per WMT basis, the
average realized price received for ore sales to Japanese, Chinese and Australian customers
totaling 10,467.1 thousand WMT of both saprolite and limonite ore sold amounted to $45.10.
This compares to an average price of $21.28 per WMT in 2013 on a total of 9,718.9 thousand
WMT of ore sold.

With respect to low-grade limonite ore sold to both the Coral Bay and Taganito plants, which
remain benchmarked to LME prices, we realized an average of $7.69 per pound of payable
nickel on 7,406.2 thousand WMT sold in 2014. This compares to an average price of $6.70 per
pound of payable nickel on 4,279.5 thousand WMT sold in 2013.

We own 60% of Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (“RTN”), which owns and operates the Rio
Tuba mine. RTN’s revenue from sale of nickel ore was B6,610.4 million in 2014 compared to P
3,035.8 million in 2013, an increase of P3,574.6 million or 118%. RTN sold an aggregate
5,972.4 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2014 compared to an aggregate 5,774.4 thousand WMT
of nickel ore sold last year. The volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese customers increased
by 541.1 thousand WMT or 144% and the volume of saprolite and limonite ore sold to Chinese
customers decreased by 320.7 thousand WMT or 16%. Further, the volume of limonite ore sold
to CBNC decreased by 22.5 thousand WMT or 1%.

RTN'’s revenue from sale of limestone ore was P316.1 million in 2014, as compared to

P153.8 million in 2013, an increase of P162.3 million or 106%. A total of 429.0 thousand WMT
of limestone ore was delivered to CBNC this year compared to 211.6 thousand WMT last year.
In 2013, most of CBNC'’s requirement for limestone ore was acquired from another supplier and
this caused the lower limestone ore delivery last year. In addition, one of CBNC’s plants had
undergone maintenance shutdown in 2013.

We own 65% of Taganito Mining Corporation (“TMC”), which owns and operates the Taganito
mine. TMC’s operations became the largest and accounted for 40% of total shipments during



the year. TMC’s revenue from sale of nickel ore was B8,479.0 million in 2014 as compared to P
3,109.1 million in 2013, an increase of B5,369.9 million, or 173%. TMC sold an aggregate
7,087.7 thousand WMT of nickel ore this year as compared to an aggregate 3,893.1 thousand
WMT of nickel ore last year. The volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese customers increased
by 210.9 thousand WMT or 47% and the volume of saprolite and limonite ore sold to Chinese
customers decreased by 165.5 thousand WMT or 6%. Further, TMC was able to deliver 4,023.4
thousand WMT of limonite ore to the THNC plant in 2014 whereas there was only 874.2
thousand WMT in 2013.

We own 100% of CMC, which owns and operates the Cagdianao mining operations. CMC’s
revenue from sale of nickel ore was P3,595.5 million in 2014 as compared to B737.9 million in
2013, an increase of P2,857.6 million, or 387%. CMC sold an aggregate 1,350.3 thousand WMT
of nickel ore this year compared to an aggregate 888.8 thousand WMT of nickel ore last year.

We own 100% of HMC, which owns and operates the Taganaan mining operations. HMC’s
revenue from sale of nickel ore was B5,051.7 million in 2014 compared to P3,438.9 million in
2013, an increase of P1,612.8 million, or 47%. This year HMC managed to sell an aggregate
3,462.9 thousand WMT of saprolite and limonite ore to Chinese customers compared to 3,442.0
thousand WMT of saprolite and limonite ore to Japanese and Chinese customers last year.

Services and Others

Our revenue from services and others was B693.0 million in 2014 compared to P634.0 million in
2013, an increase of R59.0 million, or 9%. Services revenue largely consists of payments made
to us in consideration for hauling, manpower and other ancillary services that RTN and TMC
provides to CBNC and THNC, respectively, and usage fee charged by TMC to THNC for the use
of its pier facility. The main reason for the sudden increase in our revenues from services and
others in 2014 was due to the increase in materials handling services rendered by TMC to
THNC, being the latter’s first full year of commercial operations whereas in 2013, Taganito
HPAL facility was still in its pre-operating stage.

Costs and Expenses
Our costs and expenses amounted to £10,445.8 million in 2014 as compared to R7,562.4
million in 2013, an increase of £2,883.4 million, or 38%.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales was R5,356.4 million in 2014 as compared to P4,489.3 million in 2013, an
increase of R867.1 million, or 19%. The slight increase in cost of sales was due to the
combination of higher volume of production and shipments but lower production cost. The
movement in cost of sales was attributable to the net effect of increase in production overhead
from B1,938.3 million to P2,613.0 million, outside services from P869.4 million to P1,246.4
million, personnel cost from P669.7 million to P894.2 million, and depreciation and depletion
from P830.5 million to P984.4 million.

Cost of Services

Cost of services was P371.1 million in 2014 as compared to 2335.3 million in 2013, an increase
of P35.8 million, or 11%. Costs of services largely consist of the cost of hauling, providing
manpower and other ancillary services to CBNC and THNC, plus the costs of maintaining the
pier facility used by THNC. The surge in cost of services arises mainly from the 126% increase
in volume handled for materials handling services rendered by TMC to THNC in 2014 whereas



in 2013, the volume handled was only minimal.

Shipping and Loading

Shipping and loading costs were B1,837.6 million for the year 2014 compared to RP1,398.8
million for the year 2013, an increase of P438.8 million, or 31%. Aside from the 8% increase in
volume of our direct export of ores to Japan, China and Australia, the increment in shipping and
loading costs was also brought by additional barges hired/contracted due to dry-docking of three
tugboats of RTN, repair of one LCT of TMC and dry-docking of two LCTs of HMC.

Excise Taxes and Royalties

Our excise taxes and royalties were B1,754.8 million in 2014 compared to P648.6 million in
2013, an increase of P1,106.2 million, or 171%. The increase in excise taxes and royalties was
attributable to the growth in our sales revenue during the year as compared to the same period
last year, particularly from TMC and CMC.

Marketing

Marketing costs were P168.9 million and P65.6 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Basically, the increase in marketing cost was due to higher commission paid by CMC to its
claim owner which is based on a certain percentage of its sales revenue.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were P956.9 million for the year 2014 compared to
R624.8 million for the year 2013, an increase of P332.1 million, or 53%. The increase in taxes
and licenses by P149.7 million, personnel cost by P60.8 million, outside services by

B35.6 million and donations by P37.0 million caused the significant increase in the account. The
increment in taxes and licenses pertains to the fringe benefit tax on stock option exercised
during the year. In 2014, a total of 11.4 million shares were exercised, with corresponding fringe
benefit tax of B116.4 million, as compared to only 1.9 million shares in 2013, with corresponding
fringe benefit tax of P15.4 million. In addition, the benefit given in 2014 was higher because the
Company’s stock price at exercise dates ranges from B17.02 to P47.80 compared to B21.25 to
B27.75 in 2013. Higher incentives were also given to employees due to favorable results of
operations in 2014, thus personnel cost increased. Moreover, donations amounting to P31.5
million were given to the victims of super typhoon in Guiuan, Eastern Samar. The donations
were used in the delivery of relief goods and building and reconstruction of houses. Aside from
that, donations amounting to P3.5 million were also given to the Philippine General Hospital for
the renovation of the wards.

Finance Income
Our finance income was R172.1 million in 2014 as compared to R166.8 million in 2013, an
increase of £5.3 million, or 3%.

Finance Expenses

Our finance expense was RP164.4 million in 2014 as compared to R128.3 million in 2013, an
increase of 236.1 million, or 28%. Basically, the movement in our finance expense arises from
the increase in our loan guarantee service fee, which moved from R104.2 million to P134.8
million, due to additional loan drawn by THNC. The guarantee service fee is related to the
Taganito HPAL project.




Equity in Net Income (Losses) of Associates

Our equity in net income or losses of THNC and CBNC was B522.4 million income and R184.7
million loss in 2014 and 2013, respectively. The result of THNC’s operations in 2014 and 2013
was a net income of US$32.1 million and a net loss of US$19.3 million, respectively. On the
other hand, the results of CBNC ‘s operations for the last three quarters of 2014 was income of
US$59.4 million.

Other Income - net

Our other income - net in 2014 was P470.9 million compared to B309.8 million in 2013, an
increase of P161.1 million, or 52%. The significant increase in our other income - net was
brought mainly by the movement in foreign exchange gains from B53.3 million in 2013 to P182.5
million in 2014. In both periods, the Group was in net foreign currency denominated asset
position but the average value of peso to dollar in 2014 of P44.39 was higher compared to P
42.43 in 2013, thus the increase in foreign exchange gains. In addition, the net effect of the
reversal of allowance for impairment losses resulted to an increase in other income — net by P
362.2 million. Special projects of RTN also increased from B28.4 million to P84.8 million.
However, the increase was partially offset by the decrease in dividend income and gain on sale
of property and equipment and investment properties. In 2013, CBNC paid dividends of B60.5
million and the Group sold its condominium units at a gain of B222.0 million and none of these
happened in 2014. Moreover, TMC recognized impairment for its conveyor amounting to P98.5
million which has become inoperational last September 1, 2014.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Tax

Provision for income tax was R4,292.8 million in 2014 compared to £1,124.2 million in 2013, an
increase of R3,168.6 million, or 282%. Our current provision for income tax in 2014 was
P4 ,265.5 million compared to P1,169.5 million in 2013, an increase of £3,096.0 million, or 265%
primarily due to the increase in our taxable income in 2014 resulting from higher sales revenue.
Our provision for deferred income tax in 2014 was P27.4 million compared to a benefit from
deferred income tax of P45.3 million in 2013, an increase in provision for deferred income tax of
B72.7 million, or 160%. The provision for deferred income tax in 2014 was higher compared to
2013 due to the application of NOLCO amounting to P169.8 million (with tax effect of B51.0
million) and application of excess of MCIT over RCIT of B19.9 million.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing, our consolidated net income was £11,008.1 million in 2014
compared to P2,586.4 million in 2013. Net of non-controlling interests, our net income was
P8,551.6 million in 2014 as compared to R2,053.7 million in 2013, an increase of R6,497.9
million, or 316%.

Calendar year ended December 31, 2013 compared with calendar year ended December
31, 2012

Revenues
Our total revenues were 211,109.5 million in 2013 as compared to 211,606.9 million in 2012, a
decrease of R497.4 million, or 4%.

Sale of ore

We sold an aggregate 13,998.4 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2013, an increase of 19%
compared to 11,730.2 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2012. Our sales for this year included
3,594.2 thousand WMT of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese customers, 6,124.7
thousand WMT of limonite ore to our Chinese customers and 4,279.5 thousand WMT of limonite
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ore to CBNC and THNC compared to sales of 4,236.6 thousand WMT, 4,142.1 thousand WMT
and 3,351.5 thousand WMT, respectively, in 2012.

Our revenue from sale of nickel ore was R10,321.7 million in 2013 as compared to 211,099.2
million in 2012, a decrease of R777.5 million, or 7%, mainly as a result of lower LME nickel
prices despite a higher sales volume achieved and depreciation of peso as against US dollar.
On a US dollar per WMT basis, the average realized price received for ore sales to Japanese
and Chinese customers totaling 9,718.9 thousand WMT of both saprolite and limonite ore sold
amounted to $21.28. This compares to an average price of $27.62 per WMT in 2012 on a total
of 8,378.6 thousand WMT of ore sold.

With respect to low-grade limonite ore sold to both the Coral Bay and Taganito plants, we
realized an average of $6.70 per pound of payable nickel on 4,279.5 thousand WMT sold in
2013. This compares to an average price of $8.02 per pound of payable nickel on 3,351.6
thousand WMT sold in 2012.

We own 60% of Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (“RTN”), which owns and operates the Rio
Tuba mining operations. RTN’s revenue from sale of nickel ore was 23,035.8 million in 2013 as
compared to P3,994.1 million in 2012, a decrease of R958.3 million, or 24%. RTN sold an
aggregate 5,774.4 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2013 as compared to an aggregate 5,626.4
thousand WMT of nickel ore sold in 2012. The volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and
Chinese customers decreased by 546.6 thousand WMT or 24%, while the volume of limonite
ore sold to Chinese customers and CBNC increased by 694.6 thousand WMT, or 21%.

RTN’s revenue from sale of limestone ore was 2153.8 million in 2013 as compared to P44.1
million in 2012, an increase of R109.7 million or 249%. The increase in limestone revenue was
due mainly to the start of production of RTN’s limestone operation at the Botok area. As a
result, a total of 211.6 thousand WMT of limestone ore was delivered to CBNC this year
compared to the 59.0 thousand WMT delivered last year.

We own 65% of Taganito Mining Corporation (“TMC”), which owns and operates the Taganito
mining operations. TMC’s revenue from sale of ore was £23,109.1 million in 2013 as compared
to P3,093.9 million in 2012, an increase of R15.2 million, or 0.5%. TMC sold an aggregate
3,893.1 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2013 as compared to an aggregate 2,381.5 thousand
WMT of nickel ore in 2012. The volume of saprolite ore sold to customers from Japan and
China decreased by 254.8 thousand WMT, or 15%, while the volume of limonite ore sold to
Chinese customers increased by 892.2 thousand WMT, or 126%. In addition, beginning April
2013 TMC started to deliver limonite ore to THNC and sold 874.2 thousand WMT during the
year.

We own 100% of Cagdianao Mining Corporation (“CMC”), which owns and operates the
Cagdianao mining operations. CMC’s revenue from sale of ore was £737.9 million in 2013 as
compared to P1,130.0 million in 2012, a decrease of R392.1 million, or 35%. CMC sold an
aggregate 888.8 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2013 as compared to an aggregate 1,085.6
thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2012. The volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese
customers increased by 60.0 thousand WMT or 21%. However, only 538.5 thousand WMT of
limonite ore was sold to Chinese customers in 2013 compared to 795.3 thousand WMT in 2012.

We own 100% of Hinatuan Mining Corporation (“HMC”), which owns and operates the
Taganaan mining operations. HMC’s revenue from sale of ore was £3,438.9 million in 2013 as



compared to R2,881.2 million in 2012, an increase of R557.7 million, or 19%. In 2013, HMC sold
an aggregate of 99.0 thousand WMT of saprolite ore to Japanese and Chinese customers and
3,342.9 thousand WMT of limonite ore to Chinese customers whereas in 2012 HMC sold
2,636.7 thousand WMT of limonite ore to Chinese customers only.

Services and Others

Our revenue from services and others was P634.0 million in 2013 as compared to P463.6
million in 2012, an increase of 2170.4 million, or 37%. Services revenue largely consists of
payments made to us in consideration for hauling, manpower and other ancillary services that
RTN and TMC provides to CBNC and THNC, respectively, and usage fees charged by TMC to
THNC for the use of its pier facility. The main reason for the sudden increase in our revenues
from services and others in 2013 was due to the materials handling and other ancillary services
provided by TMC to THNC which started only in January 2013.

Costs and Expenses
Our costs and expenses amounted to £7,562.4 million in 2013 as compared to B7,458.0 million
in 2012, an increase of 2104.4 million, or 1%.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales was P4,489.3 million in 2013 as compared to P4,467.2 million in 2012, an
increase of R22.1 million, or 0.5%. The slight increase in cost of sales was due to the
combination of higher volume of production and shipments but lower production cost.

Cost of Services

Cost of services was R335.3 million in 2013 as compared to 2260.4 million in 2012, an increase
of P74.9 million, or 29%. Costs of services largely consist of the cost of hauling, providing
manpower and other ancillary services to CBNC and THNC, plus the costs of maintaining the
pier facility used by THNC. In 2013, TMC started to provide materials handling and other
services to THNC wherein the cost incurred in providing these services was added in the cost of
services.

Shipping and Loading Costs

Shipping and loading costs were £1,398.8 million in 2013 as compared to £1,400.6 million in
2012, a decrease of R1.8 million, or 0.1%. Despite of higher volume of production and
shipments in 2013, the movement in shipping and loading costs was only minimal because the
Group utilizes its newly acquired equipment and in-house personnel for its ship loading activities
instead of engaging a third party contractor which resulted to lower contract fees and other
service fees.

Excise Taxes and Royalties

Our excise taxes and royalties were R648.6 million in 2013 as compared to 2707.9 million in
2012, a decrease of R59.3 million, or 8%. The decrease in excise taxes and royalties was
brought mainly by the significant decline in our sales revenue from RTN and CMC in 2013.

Marketing

Our marketing expenses were 265.6 million in 2013 as compared to R94.4 million in 2012, a
decrease of 228.8 million, or 30%. The decrease in our 2013 marketing expenses was mainly
attributable to the decline in our sales revenue subject to the commission or marketing fee.



General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were R624.8 million in 2013 as compared to R527.6
million in 2012, an increase of R97.2 million, or 18%. The higher expenses in 2013 were
attributable mainly to the increase in taxes and licenses, from 266.2 million to 280.5 million, due
to settlement of tax deficiencies and payment of business taxes; increase in personnel cost,
from 2173.8 million to 2223.1 million, due to higher employee bonuses; and increase in other
administrative expenses such as rentals and building dues.

Finance Income

Our finance income was RP166.8 million in 2013 as compared to B235.0 million in 2012, a
decrease of P68.2 million, or 29%. The decrease was brought mainly by lower interest rates
from time deposits and other investments in 2013 as compared in 2012.

Finance Expenses

Our finance expense was RP128.3 million in 2013 as compared to P114.5 million in 2012, an
increase of R13.8 million, or 12%. The increase was primarily due to guarantee service fee
which increased from R84.0 million to R104.2 million. The guarantee service fee is related to the
Taganito HPAL project.

Equity in Net Losses of an Associate

The equity in net losses of an associate was R184.7 million in 2013 as compared to R114.6
million in 2012, an increase of R70.1 million, or 61%. The movement was primarily due to
increase in net loss of THNC in 2013 resulting from non-capitalizable supplies, equipment and
workshop tools incurred by THNC during the year.

Other Income - net

Our other income in 2013 was £309.8 million as compared to £300.3 million in 2012. Other
income - net was primarily consists of dividend income from CBNC, net foreign exchange gains
or losses, gain on sale of property and equipment and investment properties, provision for
impairment losses and miscellaneous income and expenses.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Tax

Provision for income tax was R1,124.2 million in 2013 compared to £1,334.7 million in 2012, a
decrease of 2210.5 million, or 16%. Our current provision for income tax in 2013 was R1,169.5
million compared to £1,264.3 million in 2012, a decrease of R94.8 million, or 8% primarily due to
the decrease in our taxable income in 2013 resulting from lower revenues. Our benefit from
deferred income tax in 2013 was R45.3 million as compared to a provision for deferred income
tax of R70.4 million in 2012, an increase of P115.7 million, or 164%, resulting mainly from the
de-recognition of deferred income tax asset on net operating loss carry-over amounting to
P188.2 million in 2012 while there was none in 2013.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing, our consolidated net income was R2,586.4 million in 2013
compared to £3,120.3 million in 2012. Net of non-controlling interests, our net income was
P2 ,053.7 million in 2013 as compared to R2,207.2 million in 2012, a decrease of 2153.5 million,
or 7%.
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Calendar year ended December 31, 2012 compared with calendar year ended December
31, 2011

Revenues
Our total revenues were 211,606.9 million in 2012 as compared to P12,694.7 million in 2011, a
decrease of R1,087.8 million, or 9%.

Sale of ore

We sold an aggregate 11,730.2 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2012, an increase of 13%
compared to 10,386.8 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2011. Our sales for this year included
4,236.6 thousand WMT of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese customers, 4,142.1
thousand WMT of limonite ore to our Chinese customers and 3,351.5 thousand WMT of limonite
ore to CBNC compared to sales of 3,954.9 thousand WMT, 3,455.0 thousand WMT and 2,976.9
thousand WMT, respectively, in 2011.

Our revenue from sale of nickel ore was R11,099.2 million in 2012 as compared to R12,130.1
million in 2011, a decrease of 21,030.9 million, or 8%. The decrease in revenue was due both to
lower ore prices and appreciation of peso as against US Dollar. On a US dollar per WMT basis,
the average realized price received for ore sales to Japanese and Chinese customers totaling
8,378.6 thousand WMT of both saprolite and limonite ore sold amounted to $27.62. This
compares to an average price of $31.97 per WMT in 2011 on a total of 7,409.9 thousand WMT
of ore sold.

With respect to low-grade limonite ore sold to Coral Bay, we realized an average of $8.02 per
pound of payable nickel on 3,351.6 thousand WMT sold in 2012. This compares to an average
price of $10.53 per pound of payable nickel on 2,976.9 thousand WMT sold in 2011.

We own 60% of RTN, which owns and operates the Rio Tuba mining operations. RTN'’s
revenue from sale of nickel ore was R3,994.1 million in 2012 as compared to £5,863.7 million in
2011, a decrease of P1,869.6 million, or 32%. RTN sold an aggregate 5,626.4 thousand WMT
of nickel ore in 2012 as compared to an aggregate 5,099.1 thousand WMT of nickel ore sold in
2011. The volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese customers increased by 152.6
thousand WMT or 7%, while the volume of limonite ore sold to CBNC increased by 374.7
thousand WMT, or 13%.

RTN’s revenue from sale of limestone ore was 244.1 million in 2012 as compared to P100.2
million in 2011, a decrease of 256.1 million or 56%. The decrease was due to lower volume
delivered in 2012, from 146.0 thousand WMT in 2011 to 59.0 thousand WMT in 2012.

We own 65% of TMC, which owns and operates the Taganito mining operations. TMC’s
revenue from sale of ore was 23,093.9 million in 2012 as compared to R2,751.9 million in 2011,
an increase of P342.0 million, or 12%. TMC sold an aggregate 2,381.5 thousand WMT of nickel
ore in 2012 as compared to an aggregate of 1,664.8 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2011. The
volume of saprolite ore sold to customers from Japan and China increased by 658.2 thousand
WMT, or 65%. In addition, TMC sold 710.1 thousand WMT of limonite ore to Chinese customers
in 2012 compared to 651.5 WMT of limonite ore in 2011.

We own 100% of CMC, which owns and operates the Cagdianao mining operations. CMC’s
revenue from sale of ore was P1,130.0 million in 2012 as compared to 21,723.7 million in 2011,
a decrease of P593.7 million, or 34%. CMC sold an aggregate 1,085.6 thousand WMT of nickel
ore in 2012 as compared to an aggregate 1,034.0 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2011. The
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volume of saprolite ore sold to Japanese and Chinese customers decreased by 413.4 thousand
WMT or 59%. CMC also sold 795.3 thousand WMT of limonite ore to Chinese customers in
2012 compared to 330.3 thousand WMT in 2011.

We own 100% of HMC, which owns and operates the Taganaan mining operations. HMC’s
revenue from sale of ore was P2,881.2 million in 2012 as compared to £21,790.7 million in 2011,
an increase of R1,090.5 million, or 61%. HMC sold an aggregate 2,636.7 thousand WMT of
nickel ore to Chinese customers in 2012 as compared to 2,588.9 thousand WMT of nickel ore in
2011.

Costs and Expenses
Our costs and expenses amounted to £7,458.0 million in 2012 as compared to 26,231.9 million
in 2011, an increase of £1,226.1 million, or 20%.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales was P4,467.2 million in 2012 as compared to 23,349.7 million in 2011, an
increase of 21,117.5 million, or 33%. The increase in cost of sales was due to higher volume of
production and shipments and increase in production costs arising from mine and road
maintenance, cost of ore beneficiation, ore retrieving and work related to environmental
activities.

Cost of Services

Cost of services was R260.4 million in 2012 as compared to 2214.3 million in 2011, an increase
of P46.1 million, or 22%. Costs of services largely consist of the cost of hauling, providing
manpower and other ancillary services to CBNC and costs of maintaining the pier facility used
by THNC. Items which contributed to the increase in cost of services include depreciation and
depletion which increased from £72.8 million in 2011 to £100.7 million in 2012, and equipment
operating costs from 265.0 million to £78.7 million.

Shipping and Loading Costs

Shipping and loading costs were £1,400.6 million in 2012 as compared to £1,286.1 million in
2011, an increase of P114.5 million, or 9%. The increase was due to higher contract fees from
P769.6 million to P857.5 million, as a result of the increase in volume shipped in 2012 and
additional LCTs hired to cover for down-time of company-owned LCT’s. The foregoing also
resulted to higher supplies and fuel, oil and lubricant costs from R225.1 million to R271.3 million.

Excise Taxes and Royalties

Our excise taxes and royalties were R707.9 million in 2012 as compared to 2736.3 million in
2011, a decrease of R28.4 million, or 4%. The decrease in excise taxes and royalties was a
result of the decrease in our revenue in 2012.

Marketing

Our marketing expenses were R94.4 million in 2012 as compared to 268.2 million in 2011, an
increase of £26.2 million, or 38%. The increase in marketing expenses was mainly attributable
to the increase in our sales revenue subject to the commission or marketing fee.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were R527.6 million in 2012 as compared to R577.4
million in 2011, a decrease of P49.8 million, or 9%. The lower expenses in 2012 was attributable
mainly to decrease in personnel costs from R276.6 million to 2173.8 million resulting from lower
pension cost and less accrual of cost of share-based payment.
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Finance Income

Our finance income was £235.0 million in 2012 as compared to R208.4 million in 2011, an
increase of R26.6 million, or 13%. Our finance income in 2012 consists of P226.4 million of
interest income on our cash balances and other investments and R8.6 million gains from
disposal of AFS financial assets and investment in funds. Our finance income in 2011 was
consisted only of 2208.4 million interest income on our cash balances and other investments

Finance Expenses

Our finance expense was R114.5 million in 2012 as compared to R66.6 million in 2011, an
increase of R47.9 million, or 72%. The increase was primarily due to guarantee service fee
which increased from R26.6 million to 284.0 million as a result of the additional loan drawn by
THNC.

Equity in Net Losses of an Associate

The equity in net losses of an associate was R114.6 million in 2012 as compared to R196.2
million in 2011, a decrease of R81.6 million, or 42%. The movement was primarily due to
decrease in net loss of THNC in 2012.

Other Income - net

Our other income in 2012 was £300.3 million as compared to £745.2 million in 2011. Other
income - net was primarily consists of dividend income from CBNC, which decreased from
P434.2 million to P191.9 million, and net foreign exchange losses which moved from a R39.7
million gain to a R123.5 million loss due to the appreciation of the peso relative to the U.S.
dollar. Further, in 2011 the Group recognized provisions for impairment losses on deferred
mine exploration costs, advances to claim owners, input tax and inventory losses amounting to
a total of P103.3 million whereas there was none in 2012. Due to the foregoing the net
decrease in other income — net in 2012 was partially reduced.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Tax

Provision for income tax was R1,334.7 million in 2012 compared to 21,686.0 million in 2011, a
decrease of 2351.3 million, or 21%. Our current provision for income tax in 2012 was 21,264.3
million compared to £1,619.8 million in 2011, a decrease of 2355.5 million, or 22% primarily due
to the decrease in our income in 2012. Our provision for deferred income tax in 2012 was R70.4
million as compared to 266.2 million in 2011, an increase of R4.2 million, or 6%. The increase
was due to recognition of deferred income tax benefit on additional NOLCO, unrealized foreign
exchange losses, excess of minimum corporate income tax over regular corporate income tax
and realization of prior year’s unrealized foreign exchange gains during the year.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing, our consolidated net income was R3,120.3 million in 2012
compared to R5,467.6 million in 2011. Net of noncontrolling interests, our net income was
R2,207.2 million in 2012 as compared to RP3,537.8 million in 2011, a decrease of P1,330.6
million, or 38%.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Calendar year as at December 31, 2014 and 2013

Total assets amounted to P35,183.9 million in 2014 compared to R28,913.5 million in 2013.

Current assets increased to P20,611.5 million from P14,601.0 million mainly because of the
increase in cash and cash equivalents from B10,234.3 million to P13,561.8 million; and trade
and other receivables from R839.4 million to P1,431.1 million as a result of the increase in sales
revenue during the year. In addition, AFS financial assets increased from B1,257.4 million to P
2,281.6 million due to additional investments in various debt and equity securities.

The increase in noncurrent assets from B14,312.5 million to P14,572.4 million was brought by
the increase in investment in associates due to equity take up on the results of operations of
CBNC and THNC. In 2014, CBNC and THNC yielded favorable results of operations as
compared in 2013 wherein THNC was in net loss position. The increase was slightly reduced by
the decrease in long-term stockpile due to deliveries made to CBNC plant, disposal of AFS
financial assets and decrease in deferred income tax assets due to application of NOLCO and
excess of MCIT over RCIT and reversal of allowances for impairment losses on inventory and
advances to claimowners.

Total current liabilities increased to BP2,114.6 million as at December 31, 2014 from B1,309.0
million as at December 31, 2013 due to income taxes payable, which increased from P263.4
million to P513.6 million, and trade and other payables, which increased from B928.1 million to
B1,482.6 million.

Total noncurrent liabilities decreased to B2,167.0 million as at December 31, 2014 from
P2,392.8 million as at December 31, 2013 due to payments of long-term debt amounting to P
115.7 million and payments of rehabilitation cost amounting to B10.4 million. Deferred income
tax liabilities also decreased from P486.2 million to P421.0 million and pension liability
decreased from B279.1 million to P231.3 million.

Our equity net of non-controlling interests as at December 31, 2014 increased to P27,185.6
million from P20,490.1 million as of year-end 2013, due to net earnings in 2014.

Calendar year as at December 31, 2013 and 2012

Total assets amounted to P28,913.5 million in 2013 compared to R27,179.2 million in 2012.

Current assets increased to 214,601.0 million in 2013 from R13,449.5 million in 2012 due
mainly to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, from 29,263.5 million to 210,234.3 million,
and AFS financial assets, from R1,086.1 million to R1,257.4 million. Cash and cash equivalents
as of December 31, 2013 was higher due to lower acquisitions of property and equipment in
2013 than in 2012. In addition, the Group purchased additional AFS financial assets such as
money market funds which yield better returns than time deposits.

Noncurrent assets increased from 213,729.7 million in 2012 to 214,312.5 million in 2013 due to
increase in property and equipment from £25,949.9 million to £6,585.8 million, consisting mostly
of acquisitions of various tractors, dump trucks and conveyor belt.

Total current liabilities increased to P1,309.0 million in 2013 from £1,275.7 million in 2012 which
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was attributable mainly to increase in trade and other payables from 2864.0 million to 2928.1
million. However, the increase in trade and other payables was slightly offset by the reduction in
income tax payable by R31.7 million.

Total noncurrent liabilities increased to £2,392.8 million from 22,321.8 million as a result of the
re-measurement of pension liability in compliance with the revised standard on employee
benefits which requires immediate recognition of all past service cost in profit or loss in the
period they occur and recognition of all actuarial gains or losses in income.

Equity - net of non-controlling interests increased to 220,490.1 million as at year ended 2013
from 218,876.4 million as at year ended 2012 due to net earnings in 2013.

CASH FLOWS

Calendar year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

The net cash flows from operating activities amounted to P11,261.7 million in 2014, compared
to P4,120.9 million in 2013 and R4,079.0 million in 2012, as proceeds from the sale of ore were
higher in 2014 as compared in 2013 and 2012. Basically, the movement pertains to higher cash
generated from operations as a result of the significant increase in sales revenue in the current
year.

Net cash used for investment activities amounted to £2,480.2 million, R1,913.1 million and
R3,298.7 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, mainly for the acquisitions of property
and equipment and net acquisitions of AFS financial assets.

In 2014, 2013 and 2012, the net cash used in financing activities amounting to 25,550.5 million,
P1,310.1 million and R1,759.1 million, respectively, arises mainly from payments of cash
dividends and long-term debt.

As at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, cash and cash equivalents amounted to 213,561.8
million, 210,234.3 million and £9,263.5 million, respectively.

TOP FIVE KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1) SALES VOLUME
The volume of saprolite ore that we sell largely depends on the grade of saprolite ore that
we mine. The volume of limonite ore that we sell to our customers in China largely depends
on the demand for NPI and lately, carbon steel, in China. Our sales of high-grade saprolite
ore are mainly to PAMCO, who purchases our high-grade saprolite ore that we are able to
extract and ship at any given time. With respect to our low-grade saprolite and limonite ore,
in periods when we are able to extract more ore than we are able to ship, we generally
continue our mining operations and stockpile such ore for sale when demand improves or
when prices rise to more attractive levels. As stated above, the volume of our low-grade
saprolite ore and limonite ore sales to our Chinese customers is roughly correlated with the
LME nickel price, with volume increasing as nickel prices rise. In addition to sales of nickel
ore to PAMCO, SMM and our customers in China, we sell limonite ore from our Rio Tuba
mine to the Coral Bay HPAL facility, in which we have a minority interest, and from our
Taganito mine to the Taganito HPAL facility, in which we have a 22.5% equity interest.
CBNC purchases an amount of limonite ore from us sufficient to meet its ore requirements.
The annual capacity of its Coral Bay HPAL facility was originally 10,000 tonnes of contained
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nickel and was expanded to 20,000 tonnes of contained nickel in the second half of 2009,
resulting in a higher volume of limonite ore sales from RTN. In 2010, the Coral Bay HPAL
facility was able to attain an annual capacity of 23,000 tonnes as a result of the facility’s
expansion in 2009 which became fully operational in 2010. The Taganito HPAL facility has
an annual capacity of 51,000 tonnes of mixed nickel-cobalt sulfide over an estimated 30-
year Project life.

Type and Grade of Ore that we Mine

We realize higher sales prices for our saprolite ore than for our limonite ore. Accordingly, the
type and grade (which is a factor of nickel content) of the ore that we mine affects our
revenues from year to year. The quantity of saprolite ore that we mine annually depends on
the customer demand and the availability of such ore at our mine sites. The mix between
high-and low-grade saprolite ore at our mine sites coupled with our long-term mining plan
determines the quantities of each that we extract on an annual basis. The quantity of
limonite ore that we mine on an annual basis depends on the amount of such ore that needs
to be removed in order to extract the saprolite ore, as well as market demand.

CASH OPERATING COST PER VOLUME SOLD

The cash operating cost per volume of ore sold provides a cost profile for each operating
mine and allows us to measure and compare operating performance as well as changes in
per unit costs from year to year.

The cash operating cost includes production, shipping and loading costs, excise taxes and
royalties, marketing and general and administrative expenses incurred by the Group.

The average cash operating cost per volume sold in 2014 is B518.10 per WMT on the basis
of aggregate cash costs of P9,260.2 million and a total sales volume of 17,873.3 thousand
WMT of ore. This compares to P426.82 per WMT during the same period in 2013 on the
basis of aggregate cash costs of B5,974.7 million and a total sales volume of 13,998.3
thousand WMT of ore.

ATTRIBUTABLE NET INCOME

Attributable net income represents the portion of consolidated profit or loss for the year, net
of income taxes, which is attributable to the Parent Company. This is a relevant and
transparent metric of the information contained in the consolidated financial statements. The
net income attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company in 2014 is B8.55 billion
compared to P2.05 billion in 2013.

NUMBER OF HECTARES REHABILITATED/REFORESTED

We adhere to the principles and practices of sustainable development. We are committed to
complying and following environmental regulations by implementing best practices in
managing environmental impacts of our operations. To manage environmental impacts, the
Company's subsidiaries have an EPEP. This refers to the comprehensive and strategic
environmental management plan for the life of mining projects to achieve the environmental
management objectives, criteria and commitments including protection and rehabilitation of
the affected environment. A major component under our EPEP is the rehabilitation and
reforestation of the areas affected by our mining operations. We also participate in the
government’s National Greening Program where we plant trees and/or donate seedlings
outside of our mining properties. In 2014 and 2013, the Group has rehabilitated a total of
197.31 hectares and 201.81 hectares, respectively, of mine disturbed / mined out areas
within their MPSA areas with corresponding number of trees planted of about 406,610 and
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358,628, respectively. Planting outside the MPSA areas were also conducted in compliance
with DENR’s thrust of massive reforestation project nationwide known as National Greening
Program (NGP) and contributing about 149.04 hectares and 822.5 hectares in 2014 and
2013, respectively, of areas planted of various endemic tree species and seedling donations
to LGU’s and other NGP participating institution numbering to about 74,580 seedlings and
198,375 seedlings, respectively.

5) FREQUENCY RATE
Health and safety are integral parts of our personnel policies. Our comprehensive safety
program is designed to minimize risks to health arising out of work activities and to assure
compliance with occupational health and safety standards and rules and regulations that
apply to our operations. We measure our safety effectiveness through the Frequency Rate
which is the ratio of lost-time accidents to total man-hours worked for the year. In 2014 and
2013, our frequency rate is 0.24.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet transactions or obligations (including contingent
obligations), or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons.

IV. Brief Description of the General Nature and Scope of the Business of Nickel Asia
Corporation and Subsidiaries

A. Corporate Profile

Nickel Asia Corporation (“the Company”) was incorporated on 24 July 2008 with the Philippine
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and was listed with the Philippine Stock
Exchange (“PSE”) on 22 November 2010.

The Company has the following subsidiaries:

Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (RTN)

RTN was incorporated on July 15, 1969 to develop the nickel ore deposits discovered at the Rio
Tuba mine site in 1967. It was granted rights over the Rio Tuba property in 1970 and
commenced mining in 1975. RTN made its first commercial shipment in 1977.

On March 1, 1974, RTN was registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) as export producer
of beneficiated nickel ore on a non-pioneer status and annually renews its certification. On
December 13, 2002, RTN was registered with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA)
as the developer/operator of Rio Tuba Processing Zone, located in Barangay Rio Tuba,
Municipality of Bataraza, Palawan.

Hinatuan Mining Corporation (HMC)

HMC was incorporated in October 9, 1979 and was granted rights over the Taganaan property
in 1980. Development of the property commenced in 1981 and the first commercial shipment
from the Taganaan mine was made in 1982. The size of the property was expanded in 1983
with the acquisition of additional claims on adjacent properties.

Taganito Mining Corporation (TMC)
TMC was incorporated on March 4, 1987, and is primarily engaged in the mining and exporting
of nickel saprolite and limonite ore, and exploration activities. The first commercial shipment
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from the Taganito mine was made in 1989. TMC also provides services to THNC which involves
the handling, hauling and transportation of materials required in the processing operations of
THNC.

Cagdianao Mining Corporation (CMC)
CMC was incorporated on July 25, 1997 and acquired the right to operate the Cagdianao mine
in 1998.

La Costa Shipping and Lighterage Corporation (LCSLC)

LCSLC was incorporated on October 23, 1992, and is primarily engaged in the chartering out of
Landing Craft Transport (LCT) and providing complete marine services. LCSLC was acquired
by HMC in April 2010.

Samar Nickel Mining Resources Corporation (SNMRC)
SNMRC was incorporated on March 11, 2010, and is primarily engaged in the exploration,
mining and exporting of mineral ores. SNMRC has not yet started commercial operations.

Cordillera Exploration Co., Inc.

CExCI was incorporated on October 19, 1994 primarily to engage in the business of large-scale
exploration, development and utilization of mineral resources. CExCI| has a number of mining
properties at various stages of exploration. It is currently not engaged in any development or
commercial production activities.

Falck Exp Inc. (FEI)

FEI was incorporated on November 22, 2005, and is primarily engaged in the business of
exploring, prospecting and operating mines and quarries of all kinds of ores and minerals,
metallic and non-metallic.

B. Business Overview

We export both saprolite and limonite ore to customers in Japan and China. Our customers use
our ore for the production of ferronickel and nickel pig iron (NPI), both used to produce stainless
steel, and for the production of pig iron used for carbon steel. We are also the exclusive supplier
of limonite ore from our Rio Tuba mine to the country’s first hydrometallurgical nickel processing
plant owned by Coral Bay Nickel Corporation (CBNC), where we have a 10% equity interest.
CBNC became operational in 2005 and currently operates at a capacity of 24,000 tonnes of
contained nickel and 1,500 tonnes of contained cobalt per year in the form of a mixed nickel-
cobalt sulfide. It has proven to be the world’s most efficient facility using the high-pressure acid
leach (HPAL) process.

In 2010, we made an investment of P4.4 billion for a 22.5% equity interest in the country’s
second hydrometallurgical nickel processing plant under Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation
(THNC). The plant started its commercial operation in October 2013, with a capacity of 51,000
tonnes of mixed nickel-cobalt sulfide. Our Taganito mine supplies all of the limonite ore for the
plant. At a total project cost of US$1.7 billion, the plant represents the single largest investment
in the Philippine minerals sector.

Apart from our four operating mines, we have five properties in various stages of exploration for
nickel. In November 2010, we concluded the purchase of Cordillera Exploration Co., Inc.
(CExCI) from Anglo American Exploration (Philippines), Inc. (Anglo American), with four
properties in the Central Cordillera of northern Luzon that are prospective for gold and copper.
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The purchase marks our first step in our vision to become a diversified mineral resource
company. In November 2011, Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. (SMM) acquired 25% equity in
CExCI with an option to purchase additional shares to increase its total equity to 40%.

V. The Market Price and Dividends

Market Information

The Company’s common equity is traded in the PSE at a price of B15.00 per share (or B5.33
per share after the stock dividends) on November 22, 2010. The stock prices for the
Company’s common equity since the initial public offering, after the effect of stock dividends,
are as follows:

High Low
2010
4™ quarter P5.98 P5.42
2011
15! Quarter P8.13 B6.15
2" Quarter P8.37 P6.69
3 Quarter R7.65 P5.87
4™ Quarter R7.45 R5.97
2012
15! Quarter R12.25 P7.47
2" Quarter P12.62 P9 .69
3 Quarter P10.83 Pg.85
4" Quarter P9 .33 P8 .41
2013
15! Quarter P13.60 P8 71
2" Quarter P15.04 R10.15
3 Quarter P11.65 P10.00
4" Quarter P10.97 P9 52
2014
15! Quarter P13.25 R10.03
2" Quarter P22.00 P13.63
3 Quarter P31.93 p21.73
4™ Quarter P32.00 P25.93
2015
15! Quarter P32.30 P24.00

The Company’s stocks share price was at B23.25 per share as of April 10, 2015.
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Holders

The top 20 stockholders of the Company as of 31 March 2015 are:

STOCKHOLDERS’ NAME NUMBER OF SHARES | % OF OWNERSHIP
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) 2,605,404,789 68.64%
Sumitomo Metal Mining Philippine Holdings 722,328,963 19.03%
Corporation
PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino) 450,224,624, 11.86%
Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 6,306,256 00.17%
Gerard H. Brimo 5,217,187 00.14%
Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. 2,991,118 00.08%
Philip T. Ang 808,362 00.02%
Ronaldo B. Zamora 650,112 00.02%
Scott lan Lim Yu 402,750 00.01%
Steven lvan Lim Yu 387,750 00.01%
Gayly Lim Yu 185,250 00.00%
Eva Policar-Bautista 182,812 00.00%
Berck Y. Cheng 150,000 00.00%
Philipp D. Ines 137,497 00.00%
RMJ Development Corp. 112,500 00.00%
Alvin S. Ison &/or Maria Lea S. Ison 86,155 00.00%
Cristina S. Ison 80,155 00.00%
Rolando I. Gonzalez 56,812 00.00%
Sylvia F. Lacson 28,125 00.00%
Regina Capital Development Corporation 22,500 00.00%

As of 31 March 2015, the Company has forty nine (49) stockholders.

Dividends

The following tables show the dividends declared to common shareholders for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Cash Dividends
Date Amount
Per Share Total
Earnings Declared Record Payable ;aggctz’e Declared
Di\st) (in millions)
November 10, November 24,
2014 2014 2014 December 10, 2014 £0.33 P 1,264.0
2014 March 24, 2014 April 10, 2014 May 8, 2014 0.20 757.7
2013 April 5, 2013 April 22, 2013 May 14, 2013 0.19 705.3
2012 March 28, 2012 April 16, 2012 May 11, 2012 0.28 1,073.5
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Stock Dividends

Date No. of Total
Earnings % Shares (in Declared
Sopaved T SHEd B millions) | (in millions)
December 18, January 12,
2014 2014 2015 January 28, 2015 50 1,265.3 P632.6
2013 June 3, 2013 June 18, 2013 July 12, 2013 25 503.8 251.9
September 24,

2012 June 8, 2012 August 29, 2012 2012 50 671.2 335.6

We declare dividends to shareholders of record, which are paid from our unrestricted retained
earnings. Our dividend policy entitles holders of shares to receive annual cash dividends of up
to 30% of the prior year's recurring attributable net income based on the recommendation of our
BOD. Such recommendation will take into consideration factors such as dividend income from
subsidiaries, debt service requirements, the implementation of business plans, operating
expenses, budgets, funding for new investments and acquisitions, appropriate reserves and
working capital, among others. Although the cash dividend policy may be changed by our BOD
at any time, our current intention is to pay holders of our shares annual cash dividends at this
ratio. Additionally, in the event that new investments, acquisitions or other capital expenditure
plans do not materialize, our BOD plans to review the dividend policy and consider increasing
the dividend ratio above 30% of the prior year's recurring net income.

Our subsidiaries pay dividends subject to the requirements of applicable laws and regulations
and availability of unrestricted retained earnings, without any restriction imposed by the terms of
contractual agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the declaration and payment of such
dividends depends upon the respective subsidiary’s results of operations and future projects,
earnings, cash flow and financial condition, capital investment requirements and other factors.

Cash dividends are paid to all shareholders at the same time and within 30 calendar days from
declaration date. Stock dividends are also issued to all shareholders at the same time but
subject to shareholder’s approval.

VI. Compliance with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance

The Company adopted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) on June 16, 2010
and the amendments thereto on March 25, 2011, so as to incorporate certain mandatory
provisions of the Revised Code of Corporate Governance. The Amended Manual was
submitted to the SEC on March 31, 2011. On July 30, 2014, the Company further amended its
Manual to incorporate the provisions mandated under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9, series
of 2014 (based on Form 17-C filed on July 30, 2014).

The Company is committed to the principles of sound corporate governance and believes that it
is a necessary component of what constitutes sound strategic business investment. The Manual
has institutionalized the principles of good corporate governance within the Company and
embodies the framework of rules, systems and processes that governs the performance by the
Board of Directors (Board) and of Management of their respective duties and responsibilities to
the shareholders. The Board is primarily responsible for the governance of the Company and
shall provide the policies for the accomplishment of the corporate objectives, including the
means by which to effectively monitor Management’s performance. It is the Board’s
responsibility to foster the long-term success of the Company and to sustain its competitiveness
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and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate objectives and the best interest of its
stockholders and other stakeholders.

Every shareholder, regardless of number of stocks held, has the right to nominate candidates
for election to the Board of Directors. The members of the Board are elected during the Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting based on the list of nominees prepared by the Nominations Committee
and sent to the shareholders through the notice of meeting. A majority vote of the shareholders
is required for the election of a Director.

Qualifications of Directors
The Company’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance provides for qualifications of
directors which are the following:

a) College education or equivalent academic degree;

b) Practical understanding of the business of the Company;

c¢) Membership in good standing in relevant industry, business or professional

organizations;
d) Previous business experience.

The abovementioned qualifications give room for the shareholders to freely choose/nominate
directors coming from diverse professional backgrounds.

The Company’s Board is comprised of nine (9) Directors, with two (2) being Independent
Directors, namely Atty. Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. and Mr. Frederick Y. Dy.

The Company espouses the definition of independence pursuant to the Securities Regulation
Code. The Company thus considers as an independent Director one who, except for his
director’s fees and shareholdings, is independent of management and free from any business or
other relationship which, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his
exercise of independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities as a Director. The term of
the Company's Independent Directors is the same as that of the other Directors of the
Company, which is one (1) year as provided in the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed from office on grounds of
disqualification as provided in the Manual on Corporate Governance. The procedure in the
Corporation Code is followed by the Company for this purpose. Directors may be removed
through a regular or special meeting called for such purpose notices of which are duly given to
the shareholders. The removal shall be approved by a vote of the shareholders representing
2/3 of the outstanding capital stock. The vacancy in the Board resulting to such removal may be
filled in during the same meeting requiring the same amount of votes without need for further
notice.

Any vacancy occurring in the Board other than by removal by the stockholders as
abovementioned or by expiration of term may be filled by the vote of at least a majority of the
remaining directors, if still constituting a quorum; otherwise, the vacancy must be filled by the
stockholders at a regular or at any special meeting of stockholders called for that purpose. The
directors elected to fill the vacancy shall serve only the unexpired term of his predecessor.

Disqualification of Directors is provided under 3.5 of the Manual on Corporate Governance.
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The following shall be permanently disqualified to be a Director of the Company:

a)

A person convicted by final judgment or order by a competent judicial or administrative
body of any crime that: (a) involves the purchase or sale of securities, as defined in the
Securities Regulation Code; (b) arises out of the person's conduct as an underwriter,
broker, dealer, investment adviser, principal, distributor, mutual fund dealer, futures
commission merchant, commodity trading advisor, or floor broker; or (c) arises out of his
fiduciary relationship with a bank, quasi-bank, trust company, investment house or as an
affiliated person of any of them;

A person who, by reason of misconduct, after hearing, is permanently enjoined by a final
judgment or order of the Commission or a court or administrative body of competent
jurisdiction from: (a) acting as underwriter, broker, dealer, investment adviser, principal
distributor, mutual fund dealer, futures commission merchant, commodity trading
advisor, or floor broker; (b) acting as director or officer of a bank, quasi- bank, trust
company, investment house, or investment company; (c) engaging in or continuing any
conduct or practice in any of the capacities mentioned in (a) and (b) above or willfully
violating the laws that govern securities and banking activities.

The disqualification shall also apply if such person is currently the subject of an
order of the Commission or any court or administrative body denying, revoking, or
suspending any registration, license or permit issued to him under the Corporation Code,
Securities Regulation Code or any other law administered by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) or the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), or under any
rule or regulation issued by the SEC or BSP, or has otherwise been restrained to
engage in any activity involving securities and banking, or such person is currently
the subject of an effective order of a self-regulatory organization suspending or expelling
him from membership, participation or association with a member or participant of the
organization;

A person convicted by final judgment or order by a court or competent administrative
body of an offense involving moral turpitude, fraud, embezzlement, theft, estafa,
counterfeiting, misappropriation, forgery, bribery, false affirmation, perjury or other
fraudulent acts;

A person who has been adjudged by final judgment or order of the SEC, court, or
competent administrative body to have willfully violated, or willfully aided, abetted,
counseled, induced, or procured the violation of any provision of the Corporation Code,
Securities Regulation Code, or any other law administered by the SEC or BSP, or any of
its rules, regulations or orders;

A person earlier elected as independent director who becomes an officer, employee or
consultant of the Company;

A person judicially declared as insolvent;

A person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial
regulatory authority of acts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations
or misconduct enumerated in sub-paragraphs (i) to (v) above;

A person convicted by final judgment of an offence punishable by imprisonment for

more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5)
years prior to the date of his election or appointment.
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The Board shall provide for the temporary disqualification of a director for any of the following
reasons:

a) Refusal to comply with the disclosure requirements of the Securities Regulation Code
and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. The disqualification shall be in effect as
long as the refusal persists.

b) Absence in more than fifty percent (50%) of all regular and special meetings of the
Board during his incumbency, or any twelve (12) month period during the said
incumbency, unless the absence is due to illness, death in the immediate family or
serious accident. The disqualification shall apply for purposes of the succeeding
election.

c) Dismissal or termination for cause as director of any corporation covered by the
Governance Code. The disqualification shall be in effect until he has cleared himself
from any involvement in the cause that gave rise to his dismissal or termination.

d) If the beneficial equity ownership of an Independent Director in the Company or its
subsidiaries and affiliates exceeds two percent of its subscribed capital stock. The
disqualification shall be lifted if the limit is later complied with.

e) If any of the judgments or orders cited in the grounds for permanent disqualification has
not yet become final.

A temporarily disqualified director shall, within sixty (60) business days from such
disqualification, take the appropriate action to remedy or correct the disqualification. If he fails
or refuses to do so for unjustified reasons, the disqualification shall become permanent.

In the case of the independent directors, the Nomination Committee shall further review their
business relationships and activities to ensure that they have all the qualifications and none of
the disqualifications for independent directors as set forth in the Company’s Manual of
Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code, and the SRC Implementing Rules and
Regulations.

As provided under Section 3.6.3 of the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance, all
directors shall act in the best interest of the Company characterized by transparency,
accountability and fairness, and shall exercise leadership, prudence and integrity in directing the
Company towards sustained progress.

Directors shall observe the following norms of conduct:

a) Conduct fair business transactions with the corporation, and ensure that his personal
interest does not conflict with the interests of the Company.

b) Devote the time and attention necessary to property and effectively perform his duties
and responsibilities.

c) Act judiciously.

d) Exercise independent judgment.

e) Have a working knowledge of the statutory and regulatory requirements that affect the
company.

f) Observe confidentiality.
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Chairman
The roles of Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) are assigned to Manuel B.
Zamora Jr. and Gerard H. Brimo, respectively.

The following are the duties and responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO as provided in the

Company’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance:

CHAIRMAN

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman is responsible for
leadership of the Board. He ensures
effective operation of the Board and
its committees in conformity with the
highest standards of corporate
governance. He sets the style and
tone of Board discussions to promote
constructive debate and effective
decision making.

Maintaining qualitative and timely
lines of communication and
information between the Board and
Management.

(see Section 3.3.3 of the Revised
Manual on Corporate Governance).

The President and CEO provide the leadership for
Management to develop and implement sound
business strategies, plans, budgets and a system
of internal controls.

Ensures that the overall business and affairs of
the Company are managed in a sound and
prudent manner and that business risks are
identified and properly addressed. As such, he is
considered the Chief Risk Officer of the Company.

Ensures that operational, financial and internal
controls are adequate and effective in order to
generate sound and reliable financial and
operational information, to maximize the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, to
safeguard Company assets and resources, and to
comply with all laws, rules, regulations and
contracts.

Provide general management and administration
of the business of the Company.

Board Committees

Number of Members
Executive Non-executive Independent
Director Director Director
Audit and Risk 1 1 1
Nomination 1 1 1
Remuneration 2 1
(Compensation)
Audit and Risk Committee
a) Assist the Board in the performance of its oversight responsibility or the financial

reporting process, system of internal control, audit process, and monitoring of
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations;

b) Provide oversight over Management's activities in managing credit, market, liquidity,
operational, legal and other risks of the Company. This function shall include regular
receipt from Management of information on risk exposures and risk management
activities;

c) Perform oversight functions over the Company's internal and external auditors. It shall
ensure that the internal and external auditors act independently from each other, and
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that both auditors are given unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel
to enable them to perform their respective audit functions;

Review the annual internal audit plan to ensure its conformity with the objectives of the
Company. The plan shall include the audit scope, resources and budget necessary to
implement it;

Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss with the external auditor the nature,
scope and expenses of the audit, and ensure proper coordination if more than one audit
firm is involved in the activity to secure proper coverage and minimize duplication of
efforts;

Organize an internal audit department, and consider the appointment of an independent
internal auditor and the terms and conditions of its engagement and removal;

Monitor and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal control
system, including financial reporting control and information technology security;

Review the reports submitted by the internal and external auditors;

Review the quarterly, half-year and annual financial statements before their submission
to the Board, with particular focus on the following:

. Any changes in accounting policies and practices

. Major judgmental areas

. Significant adjustments resulting from the audit

. Going concern assumptions

. Compliance with accounting standards

. Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements.

Coordinate, monitor and facilitate compliance with laws, rules and regulations:

Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, of the external auditor, and review

periodically the non-audit fees paid to the external auditor in relation to their significance

to the total annual income of the external auditor and to the Company's overall

consultancy expenses. The Committee shall disallow any non-audit work that will

conflict with the duties of the external auditor or may pose threat to independence. The

non-audit work, if allowed, shall be disclosed in the Company's annual report;

Establish and identify the reporting line of the internal auditor to enable him to properly

fulfill his duties and responsibilities. He shall functionally report directly to the Audit and

Risk Committee, which shall ensure that, in the performance of his work, the internal

auditor shall be free from interference by outside parties.

Nomination Committee

(@)

(b)

Review and evaluate the qualifications of all persons nominated to be a director of the
Company and of all nominees to other positions in the Company requirement
appointment by the Board.

Assess the effectiveness of the Board’s process and procedures in the election or
replacement of directors.

Remuneration (Compensation) Committee

The duty of the Remuneration (Compensation Committee) is to establish a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on remuneration of Directors and Officers to
ensure that their compensation is consistent with the Company’s culture, strategy and the
business environment in which it operates.
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Corporate Secretary

Atty. Barbara Anne C. Migallos is the incumbent and duly qualified Corporate Secretary of the
Company. She is currently fulfilling the duties and responsibilities of her office, ensuring that all
Board procedures, rules and regulations are strictly followed. The Corporate Secretary is a
lawyer with years of experience in corporate law practice, including corporate secretarial work.
She is also a professorial lecturer in advanced securities regulation.

Compliance Officer

Atty. Jose Roderick F. Fernando, aside from being designated as the Assistant Corporate
Secretary of the Company, has likewise been appointed by the Board as the Compliance
Officer, to monitor compliance by the Company with the Manual and the rules and regulations of
regulatory agencies. He ensures the Company’s strict adherence to all laws, regulations,
guidelines and specifications relevant to the business.

Corporate Governance Officer

On May 6, 2014, the Board approved the appointment of Emmanuel L. Samson as the
Company’s Corporate Governance Officer to assess and monitor the governance framework
and ensure compliance with policies, laws and regulations related to governance. He is tasked
with ensuring that corporate governance policies are disseminated, adopted throughout the
organization and become an integral part of the Company’s culture. In addition, he also ensures
that the necessary systems are in place to monitor compliance.

Rights of Shareholders

As provided in Section 6 of the Manual on Corporate Governance, the Board shall respect the
rights of the stockholders and protect the minority stockholders’ interest. The following rights of
the stockholders as provided in the Corporation Code, are:

Right to vote on all matters that require their consent or approval;
Pre-emptive right to all stock issuances of the corporation;

Right to inspect corporate books and records;

Right to information;

Right to dividends; and

1
2
3
4
5
6 Appraisal right.
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The Company sends timely notice of meetings to shareholders. Notice stating the date, time
and place of the annual meeting are announced at least thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled
annual meeting. Materials for the meeting, including the agenda, the rationale and explanation
for each of the items on the agenda, the Information Statement, profiles of candidates seeking
election to the Board and proxy forms and documents required to enable a shareholder to
appoint a proxy to vote on his behalf shall be disseminated to all shareholders within the periods
prescribed by the SEC.

The Board shall be transparent and fair in the conduct of the annual and special stockholders’
meetings. Stockholders shall be encouraged to personally attend. They shall be apprised in a
timely manner of the right to appoint a proxy if they cannot attend. Subject to the requirements
of the Company’s By-laws, the exercise of the right to appoint a proxy shall not be unduly
restricted and any doubt about the validity of a proxy shall be resolved in the stockholder’s
favor.
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The Board shall promote the rights of the stockholders, remove impediments to the exercise of
those rights, and provide adequate venue for stockholders to seek timely redress for breach of
their rights.

The Board shall take appropriate steps to remove excessive or unnecessary costs and other
administrative impediments to the stockholders' meaningful participation in meetings, whether in
person or by proxy. Accurate and timely information shall be made available to the stockholders
to enable them to make a sound judgment on all matters brought to their attention for
consideration or approval.

The disclosure duties of the Board are contained in Section 8 of the Manual on Corporate
Governance and are as follows:

The Board commits to cause the timely disclosure of material information and/or transactions
that could potentially affect the market price of the Company's shares or the interest of its
stockholders and other stakeholders and such other information which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and
Regulations including, without limitation, earnings results, acquisition or disposal of significant
assets, off-balance sheet transactions, related party transactions, Board membership changes,
shareholding of Directors and Officers and any changes thereto, and remuneration of Directors
and Officers.

The Board shall therefore commit at all times to full disclosure of material information dealings.
It shall cause the filing of all required information through the appropriate Exchange
mechanisms for listed companies and submissions to the Commission for the interest of its
stockholders and other stakeholders.

The Company is taking further steps to enhance adherence to principles and practices of good
governance including the designation of a Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”) who is the champion of
enterprise risk management at the Company and oversees the entire risk management function.
The risk management policy has been approved and risk officers at each operating company
have also been designated.

On May 28, 2014, the Board established a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code”). The
Code is adopted for the guidance of Directors, Officers and Employees of Nickel Asia
Corporation and its subsidiaries who are all expected to maintain high ethical standards of
conduct and to comply fully with applicable laws and governmental regulations. The Code is
designed to ensure consistency in how Directors, Officers and Employees conduct themselves
within the Company, and in their dealings outside of the Company with respect to matters
dealing with the Company. The Code is guided by the Company’s core values and the following
standards of business conduct and ethics — integrity; compliance with laws, regulations and
standards; safety; proper communication: disclosure; confidentiality of certain information;
conflict of interest and related party transactions; insider trading; competition and fair dealing:
procurement governance; gifts, hospitality and sponsored travel; environmental policy; and risk
management. The Code also provides guides on employee disclosures and complaints, as well
as a periodic acknowledgment of compliance with the Code (Form 17-C filed on May 6, 2014).
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On March 27, 2015, in line with the thrust of continuous improvement, the Board of Directors
approved the following corporate governance policies and charters:

1. Policy on period for payment of dividends
Policy in furtherance of effective participation of shareholders at shareholders’ meetings
and the exercise of the right to vote. This formalizes into a policy practices for
stockholders’ meeting that are already done by the Company.

3. Policy on Related Party Transactions that follows definitions under Philippine Accounting

Standards, which the Company already complies with, definition of material RPT,
and review of material RPT by independent directors, for endorsement to BOD.

4. Policy requiring appointment of independent 3rd party to evaluate fairness of transaction
price where Company is offeree in a merger or acquisition transaction requiring
shareholders’ approval that will result in a takeover or change of control of the Company.

5. Charter of the Compensation (Remuneration) Committee

6. Charter of the Nominations Committee

The Board has undergone a self-assessment process and has implemented a rational rating

system to determine compliance by Directors and Officers with the Manual for Corporate

Governance. The Company has substantially complied with its Revised Manual of Corporate

Governance and there has been no deviation from the same.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

The Company has adopted a risk philosophy aimed at enhancing shareholder value by
adequately managing risks in a cost effective manner, thereby enabling the Company to sustain
its competitive advantage and to pursue strategic growth opportunities with greater speed, skills
and confidence. To put the philosophy into action, the Board of Directors, through its Audit and
Risk Committee, implemented an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) that shall ensure that all
business risks are identified, measured and managed effectively and continuously within a
structured and proactive framework. The Company’'s ERM is based on the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission-ERM framework. Values and
standards of business conduct and ethics are important elements of the internal environment for
risk management.

Risk Management Oversight Structure

Board of Directors

Audit and Risk
Committee

NAC group Chief Risk Officer

Management (CRO) — Parent
Company
|

CRO — Operating
Subsidiaries

Line management

Compliance team Internal audit
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The Board of Directors has the responsibility for overseeing risk management within the
Company and its operating subsidiaries. Assisting the Board is the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) of
the Company, who reports to the Audit and Risk Committee the significant risks and related risk
strategies, and the status of the risk management initiatives on a regular basis. The Company
CRO is in turn supported by the Finance Officers of each operating subsidiary, who acts as
CROs for their respective companies. In this connection, a cross-functional group of personnel
with technical, financial, and legal expertise was formed to review compliance with all mining
laws and regulations. The Internal Auditor reports to the Audit and Risk Committee the results
of the review of the effectiveness of the risk management initiatives adopted by management.

The table below shows the focus of Company’s Risk Management Policy. The different risk
exposures may overlap depending on the risk that is identified and assessed.

Risk Exposure

Risk Management Policy

Objective

Increased resource
nationalism calling for
the amendments of the
Mining Act and greater

government share

Work with lawmakers, relevant
government agencies, and the
Chamber of Mines for open
discussion of a fair and equitable
sharing that will ensure the
industry remains competitive with
other global players.

Demonstrate transparency of
payments of government share
through participation in the
Philippine EITI.

Dissemination of accurate
industry information and statistics
and thus manage negative
perceptions about the industry.

Volatility of LME price

Review of mining plan and cost
drivers.

Cushion the impact of volatile
LME price.

Shortage  of  skilled

manpower

Pay for skills and value to the

company.

No interruption in operations
arising from lack of manpower.

Failure to comply with
the conditions in ECC

Full compliance with all
regulations.

Demonstrate responsible mining.

The systems that are in place are intended to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or loss, as well as to ensure the safeguarding of assets, the
maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance
with applicable legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification and
management of business risk.

In the course of their statutory audit, the Group’s external auditors carry out a review of the
Group’s material internal controls to the extent of the scope as laid out in their audit plans. Any
material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses, together with the external auditors’
recommendations to address them, are reported to the Audit Committee. NAC’s Management,
with the assistance of Internal Audit, follows up on the external auditors’ recommendations as
part of their role in reviewing the Group’s system of internal controls.
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Below are examples of the Company’s Risk Assessment, Management Control:

Risk Exposure

Risk Assessment
(Monitoring and Measurement

Process)

Risk Management and Control
(Structures, Procedures, Actions

Taken)

Increased resource
nationalism calling
for the amendments
of the Mining Act and
greater government
share

High risk (in terms of significance
and likelihood)

Active discussion with government
teams on what constitutes a fair and
equitable sharing arrangement.

Actively support the Chamber of
Mines programs in formulating and
disseminating significant industry
positions.

¢ Active involvement in Ph-EITI
initiatives.

Volatility of LME
price

High risk (in terms of significance
and likelihood)

Review business plan if this continue
to be appropriate with the prevailing
prices.

Review costs drivers.

Review blending plan for optimum
product mix.

Shortage of skilled
manpower

Moderate risk (moderate
significance, high likelihood)

Incorporate skills training in SDMP
programs of communities to ensure
availability of skills.

Failure to comply
with the conditions
in ECC

Moderate risk (high significance,
low likelihood)

Embed compliance into existing
processes.

Regular training of personnel involved
in operations.

» Regular review by the parent
company compliance team.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit and Risk Committee, assesses the effectiveness of the
Company’s ERM, including that of the operating subsidiaries. The Audit and Risk Committee
has assessed the ERM of the Company and its operating subsidiaries to be effective in

managing risks faced by the Group.

Internal Audit and Control

The Group defines internal control system as a process, effected by its BOD, management and
other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of

objectives in the following categories:

1. Effectiveness and efficiency of operations.
2. Reliability of financial reporting.
3. Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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In ensuring effectiveness and efficiency of operations, the Group focuses on the basic business
objectives, performance and profitability goals and safeguarding of resources. Reliability of
financial reporting ensures that there are adequate controls in the preparation of published
financial statements, including the quarterly financial statements and selected financial data
derived from such statements, e.g. earnings releases. Compliance controls ensures that the
Group comply with those laws and regulation to which it is subject. In designing the internal
control system, the Group recognizes that these three distinct but overlapping categories
address different needs and allow a directed focus to meet the different needs.

The internal control system has the following components that are integrated, have synergy and
linkage among these components, forming an integrated system that reacts dynamically to
changing conditions. The internal control system is intertwined with the entity's operating
activities and exists for fundamental business reasons to ensure an effective and efficient
internal control system.

a) Control environment which sets the tone of the Group and is the foundation for all other
components of internal control, providing discipline and structure.

b) Risk assessment which is integrated and exists at all levels in the organization.

c) Control activities consisting of policies and procedures that help ensure management

directives are carried out and that necessary actions are taken to address risks to
achievement of the Group’s objectives. Similar to risk assessment, control activities
occur throughout the Group, at all levels and in all functions.

d) Information and communication to ensure that pertinent information are identified,
captured and communicated that enables people to carry out their responsibilities and to
run and control the business. Information includes external events, activities and
conditions necessary to informed business decision making and external reporting,
Communication includes external activities e.g. investors, public and regulators.

e) Monitoring the process to assess the quality of the internal control system over time.
This is accomplished through ongoing monitoring activities and separate evaluations or
a combination of both. Internal control deficiencies are reported upstream, with serious
matters reported to top management and the board.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit and Risk Committee, assesses the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system, including that of the operating subsidiaries. The Audit and
Risk Committee has assessed the internal control system of the Company and its operating
subsidiaries to be effective and adequate.

Investor Relations Program

The Company is committed to making timely, full and accurate disclosures and distributing other
corporate communication materials in accordance with the disclosure rules of the Philippine
Stock Exchange.

External and internal communications are handled by the Corporate Communications, Legal,
and Investor Relations units. Major company announcements are reviewed and approved by the
VP-Corporate Communications, VP-Legal, SVP-Strategic Planning, the Chief Financial Officer,
and the President and Chief Executive Officer.

The policy is subject to regular review by senior management and the Board of Directors to

ensure its effectiveness. Updates and amendments (as appropriate) will be made to reflect
current best practices in our communication with the investment community.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Initiatives

Social development programs are created and implemented in all the mines. The focus areas of
these programs are designed to address needs of communities around the mine sites. These
programs are carried out through the Social Development Management Plans (SDMPs) and
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activities of the company. The main difference between
the two programs is that the SDMP is required by the government, while CSR is voluntary on
the part of the Company.

Each of our operating mines manages their social expenditures through its respective SDMPs.
These are five-year programs that contain a list of priority projects identified and approved for
implementation, in consultation with the host communities. Each mine site has a community
relations team that is in charge of identifying and implementing SDMPs, and maintaining strong
relationships with communities. Annually, NAC sets aside a budget for SDMP projects that
focus on health, education, livelihood, public utilities and socio-cultural preservation. The
implementation of the programs are monitored, audited and evaluated by the Mines and
Geosciences Bureau (MGB).

Our communities and employees are integral parts of our Company. We ensure the protection
of their welfare and the improvement of the quality of their lives through our social responsibility
programs.

We spent P90.1 million for SDMP in 2014.

The Company’s CSR Program is anchored on 2 central elements:
1. Community Partnership and Relationship Building
a. Establishing and maintaining positive relationships with communities by having them as
partners for community development and nation building
b. Partnership building with communities (both social and environmental) — community as
essential partners and not as mere beneficiaries
c. Community serving as the primary protector of the company through strong partnership
and relationship
2. Leadership
a. Top management strongly supports the company’s CSR initiatives
b. Social Investment —going beyond compliance and considering CSR not as an additional
cost but as an investment.

Customers’ Safety and Welfare
Our Group continually strives to satisfy our customers’ expectations and concerns by giving
utmost attention to their safety and welfare which we address as follow:

. Ores are loaded onto the customers’ vessels when weather and sea conditions are
favorable and with close coordination with the vessel captain.

. Ore size and specifications are strictly complied which are necessary for the safe and
efficient operation of the customer processing facilities.

. Ore moisture is strictly monitored to comply with the customer and international maritime
standards of up to 35% moisture content.

. The company-owned LCTs and barges have been issued with certificates of sea

worthiness by the Marina and are being subjected to regular preventive maintenance
and dry docking.

. Customer’s representatives in mine site are provided with required personal protective
equipment.
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Supplier/Contractor Selection Practice

We promote fair dealings with our suppliers, creditors and other business partners. We honor
our commitments to agreements and timely payments of contracted obligations. We explicitly
disallows employees from any interest in or benefit from any supplier that could reasonably be
interpreted as inducing favoritism towards a particular supplier over others.

We also require our suppliers to undergo an accreditation process before they engage in
business with the Group. Among the criteria for accreditation are:
. Business longevity/legitimacy
The supplier/contractor should already be an established, reputable company and
already existing for a number of years in the field of supply and rendering services.
. Financial Stability

a) The supplier/contractor should be able to extend reasonable credit terms once the
volume of purchases reach a significant value.

b) The supplier/contractor must comply with some documentation requirements to
ensure legitimacy, legality and financial stability of their company.

. Product/Service Exclusivity (Dealership)

a) The supplier/contractor should be equipped with sufficient number of manpower and
required mobile equipment to sustain logistic services in terms of efficiency in the
delivery of their products.

b) The supplier/contractor should have a very strong and established program to cater
for the warranty of their products and after sales support.

. Product/Service Quality

a) The supplier/contractor should be equipped with adequate technical competence to
support all queries of their clients when the need arises.

b) The supplier/contractor should be able to maintain the quality of their services during
the pre-accreditation period for a specific duration for them to be qualified for the final
accreditation stage.

. Registered ISO member
Advantage but not necessarily a pre-requisite

The Group’s purchases, as a general rule, are made on the basis of competitive bidding of
accredited and qualified suppliers, in accordance with the aforementioned policy.

Environmentally-Friendly Value Chain (Fuel, oil and lubricants/Plastic/Rubber/Steel/Hazardous
Products)

Our business looks beyond lowest price and bottom line, and instead buys the best, safest and
most suitable products in accordance with our policy. We seek assurances that our suppliers
are also firms with an ethically sound CSR policy by ensuring that they have:

. Government-approved Environment Compliant Certificate
a) DENR
b) ECC
c) Local/Municipal Permits
. Accredited Treater/Transporter
a) Are technically-knowledgeable on Environmental Safety/Disposal Procedures
b) Complete line of machines/instruments/tools for material handling
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Community Interactions

Sustainability Program

We adhere to the principles and practices of sustainable development. We are also committed
to complying and following environmental regulations by implementing best practices in
managing environmental impacts of our operations. Mining is a temporary land use and once
mining operations in our sites have ended, we plan to restore these properties to at least as
close as possible to their pre-mining condition or to develop alternative productive land uses for
the benefit of the surrounding communities.

To manage environmental impacts, the Company's subsidiaries have an Environmental
Protection and Enhancement Program (EPEP). This refers to the comprehensive and strategic
environmental management plan for the life of mining projects to achieve the environmental
management objectives, criteria and commitments including protection and rehabilitation of the
affected environment.

It is the operational link between the environmental protection and enhancement commitments
under CDAO 2010-21, consolidated implementing rules and regulations of RA No. 7942, as well
as those stipulated in the Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) under P.D. 1586 and the
Contractor’s plan of mining operation.

Activities undertaken through our Annual Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program
(AEPEP) include, among others:

. Rehabilitation of mine disturbed areas

. Reforestation

. Construction and/or maintenance of environmental facilities
. Solid waste management

. Hazardous waste management

. Air quality monitoring and water quality monitoring

. Preservation of downstream water quality

The Group also complies with the Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) conditions and
the performance of commitments through our Annual Environmental Protection and
Enhancement Program (AEPEP). This program is monitored and evaluated by the Multipartite
Monitoring Team (MMT) - a multi-sector group headed by a representative from the Regional
Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) and representatives of local government units (LGUs),
other government agencies, non-government organizations, people’s organizations, the church
sector and the Company.

Rehabilitation

In line with our commitment to maintain a sustainable environment in its areas of operation and
abide by the Philippine Mining Act of 1995, the Company regularly conducts onsite
environmental assessment to ensure that all its subsidiaries are strictly implementing
progressive rehabilitation within standard set by regulatory agencies.

The process begins with re-contouring, backfilling and leveling the land. After this, the area is
covered with top soil and other soil amelioration strategies to provide fertile ground for planting.
We follow the “Sequential Planting Method”, wherein we first plant fast growing species, then
they are provided with a vegetative cover within 12 to 18 months to enable planting of other
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species. Another successful method used is by utilizing large planting materials which resulted
to more than 90% survival and high growth rate.

Creating a biodiversity area with varied species of vegetation including native fruit bearings
trees will eventually be a source of food for a variety of wildlife species that will aid in
rehabilitating mine affected areas by way of succession and regeneration. The rehabilitation
effort is managed by our expert foresters with the help from indigenous peoples (IPs) from the
locality, and we have demonstrated that a totally mined out area can be significantly re
vegetated in just 12-18 months.

The end result is a sustainably managed forest far better than the stunted vegetation there
before, because of the mineralized nature of the soil. For the year 2014, the Company spent a
total of B550.8 million for EPEP.

As a means of restoring the disturbed areas from mining operations, the Company requires
each mine site to create a decommissioning/ closure plan. The closure plan includes the
process in which mined-out areas will be rehabilitated and monitored, until the rehabilitation
criteria set by MGB are successfully satisfied. The program for final rehabilitation and
decommissioning includes social package which include livelihood components for the host
communities and the affected employees of our companies. The four operating subsidiaries
have already developed their respective plans for review and approval of the MGB. As of
December 31, 2014, the provision allotted for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning
amounted to P130.2 million.

Mine Rehabilitation is contained in the Mining Act of 1995. It's part of a Sustainable
Development. It's part of our Best Practice at our subsidiary, Rio Tuba Nickel Mining
Corporation. The work starts by re-contouring, backfilling and leveling the land. Then we provide
top soil to deliver a fertile ground for planting. Following the “Sequential Planting Method”, we
first plant fast growing species called Pioneer Species such as Batino, Acacia mangium, Acacia
auriculiformis and others — all grown and nurtured in our nursery. These species provide
vegetatiev cover within 3 years to enable the planting of “Climax Species” like Apitong, Ipil,
Narra, Almaciga, Agoho, Kamagong and others which we need tree shade to grow. They form
the core of the new forest stands. Native fruit-bearing trees are also planted to provide a source
of food for wild animals that will eventually populate the forest. To ensure the survival of all
these trees we have a forestry team. Composed mostly of indigenous people from the
surrounding areas, the team conductsa maintenance program like watering during summer,
ringweeding cultivation around seedlings, application of compost and other related activities.
The work of the team has achieved a survival rate of 90% for the trees.

The end result is a sustainably manged forest far better that the stunted vegetation there before,
because of the mineralized nature of the soil.

Anti-corruption programmes and procedures

The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics contain explicit provisions prohibiting any
Officer, Director or employee from conducting any unlawful act including inducing or using third
parties to circumvent laws, rules and regulations; and avoiding any conduct that may create the
impression of unlawful or unethical conduct. The Code also provides guidelines and assistance
in case of doubt as to the legality of any act. Violations to the Code are dealt with in
accordingly.
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Safeguarding Creditors’ Rights

Creditor’s rights are defined in the purchase order or contract especially by payment, warranty,
penalty and others. We protect the rights of our creditors by publicly disclosing all material
information, such as earnings results and risk exposures relating to loan covenants. Our
disclosure controls and procedures also include periodic reports to our creditors such as our
latest certified Financial Statements, among others.

Employees
Health, Safety and Welfare

Health and safety are integral parts of our personnel policies. Our comprehensive safety
program is designed to minimize risks to health arising out of work activities and to assure
compliance with occupational health and safety standards and rules and regulations that apply
to our operations such as:

a) We strictly require the utilization of protective equipment and safety devices.

b) First aid and emergency equipment are installed strategically in our work areas.

c) Safety in-house inspections are regularly conducted to identify hazards and unsafe
conditions or practices.

d) Managers and supervisors regularly conduct safety briefings and meetings.

e) Safety orientation training is also conducted for new employees and emergency
preparedness training and drills are conducted periodically.

f) We have a rigorous system of investigating accidents and near-misses to understand
causes and implement corrective measures.

9) We record and monitor lost time injuries, medically treated injuries, minor injuries and

non-injury incidents which include near-miss incidents, and property damage and their
frequency rates.

h) We provide healthcare benefit to our employees and their dependents. Every year
employees are given medical and healthcare orientation and a booklet through our health
maintenance service provider. Our employees have their medical and physical examination
every year. Aside from that, they are given flu vaccination once a year. In these ways, we make
them aware of their health and medical condition.

Key safety statistics during 2014 follow:

Number of man-hours worked 20,441,268
Lost-time accidents 5
Frequency rate 0.24

We provide the following health benefits to all our 1,484 regular employees.

Health Insurance (via HMO provider)
Group Life & Personal Accident Insurance
Dental services
Medicine Allowance
Health & wellness programs

Other Benefits
Free hospitalization at RTNFI Hospital
100% Hospitalization subsidy
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We utilize the internet social media to publicize our activities, programs and projects in relation
to the health and welfare of the employees, their dependents including the nearby communities
of our mine sites.

Training and Development Programs

We have developed a training and development program for the employees based on the
training needs analysis conducted. Every year, we provide training and development
opportunities for all employees to enhance their knowledge, skills and competencies towards
the achievement of their individual performance targets, as well as their career goals. The
trainings cover a variety of aspects aimed at further enriching their technical competency, as
well as their intangible or “soft skills” that would help them to do their role more effectively. All
training activities are documented and included in the official newsletter/ magazine of the
operating companies. Aside from this, an internal report is prepared and submitted by Human
Resources after each training activity of the concerned departments.

During 2014, the Company conducted the several training and development programs for its
officers and employees.

The Company has an Employee Stock Option Plan to reward Officers and Directors and to link
the former’s interest to the Company and the stockholders. Employees are given benefits under
the collective bargaining agreements which are way and above the standards provided by the
Labor code, as amended, and other allied laws.
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES )
)S.S.

CERTIFICATE OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, FREDERICK Y. DY, Filipino, of legal age, with address at 3 Swallow Drive, Green
Meadows, Quezon City, hereby declare that:

1. | am an independent director of Nickel Asia Corporation (the “Company”).
2. | am affiliated with the following companies or organizations:

Company Position / Relationship | Period of Service
Security Bank Corporation Chairman and Director | 1991 to present
City Industrial Corporation Chairman 1994 to present
St. Luke’s Medical Center Vice Chairman 1996 to 2010

Chairman 2011 to present

Ponderosa Leather Goods Director 1980 to present
Company, Inc.

3. | possess all of the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as
Independent Director of the Company as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations.

4. | shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code.

5. | am not connected with any government agency or instrumentality.

6. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of the Company of any change in the
abovementioned information within five (5) days from its occurrehce.

FRED KY. DY
Independent Director

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 16 day of April 2015, affiant
exhibiting to me his Comp Stent Evndence of Identity __ PASSPORT WOD- E}ﬁ‘}od&l:
DFR ~MaNILY bearing his photograph and

on Notarial Pracube

~ Doz No.. «_7»},“ - _, -
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- BookNo.: [ ;- NOTARY PUBLIC FOR AND IN THE CITY OF MAKATI
~Series of 2015 APPOINTMENT NO. M-211 (2014-2015)
AN COMMISSION EXPIRES ON DECEMBER 31, 2015
TS e 7* Floor, The PHINMA Plaza, 39 Plaza Drive _

Rockwell Center, Makati City 1210 ";"
PTR No. 4754330; 1-7-15; Makati City ™
IBP O.R. No. 0984866; 1-7-15; Makati City
TIN 211-238-529 I
ROLL NO. 61142, MARCH 2012



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES )
) S.S.

CERTIFICATE OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

|, FULGENCIO S. FACTORAN, JR., Filipino, of legal age, with office address at No.
9, llang-ilang Street, Tahanan Village, Parafiaque City, hereby declare that:

y | am an independent director of Nickel Asia Corporation (the “Company”).
2; | am affiliated with the following companies or organizations:
Company Position / Relationship Period of
Service
GAIA South, Inc. Chairman 1992 - present
Agility Inc. Chairman 1996 — present
Weather Foundation Phils., Inc. Independent Director 2012 —present
Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development | Independent Director 2012 - present
PETA Trustee 1994 - present
3. | possess all of the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as

Independent Director of the Company as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations.

4. | shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code.

5. I am not connected with any government agency or instrumentality.

6. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of the Company of any change in the
abovementioned information within five (5) days from its occurrence.

o sk
FU ClO S. FACTORAN, JR.
Independent Director

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 1 6 day of April 2015, affiant

exhibitng to me his  _PASSPDRT ND. EWOG( 3D\ issued  on

(S SEPT 201 at SE-MANILA bearing his photograph

and signature,.in accordance with Rule I, Section 12 and Rule IV Section 2 (b) of the 2004
Rules on Notarial Practice.

Dec. No.: 3S\; wf‘“
Page No.: ?% pa s EXINIFER C. LEE

BookNo.. T.;. -~ NOTARY PUBLIC FOR AND IN THE CTFY OF MAKATI
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|, B
address at

ERTIFICATION

ARBARA ANNE C. MIGALLOS, of legal age, Filipino, and with office
7t Floor, The PHINMA Plaza, 39 Plaza Drive, Rockwell Center, Makati City,

after having been sworn to in accordance with law, hereby depose and say that:

1. | am the Corporate Secretary of Nickel Asia Corporation (the “Company”), a
corporation organized and existing under Philippine law, with principal office
address at 28th Floor, NAC Tower, 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig
City, Metro Manila.

2. | hereby certify that the following incumbent Directors of the Company are not
connected with any government agency or instrumentality:

2.7
2.2.
2.3.
24.
2.5.
2.6.
2.1
2.8.
2.9.

Manuel B. Zamora, Jr.

Philip T. Ang

Gerard H. Brimo

Luis J. L. Virata

Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. (Independent)
Frederick Y. Dy (Independent)

Martin Antonio G. Zamora

Takanori Fujimura

Takeshi Kubota

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 17t day of April 2015, affiant
exhibiting to me her Community Tax Certificate No. 02416846 issued on 7 January
2015 at Makati City, and her Passport No. EC0356963 issued on 20 February 2014 at
DFA Manila, expiring on 19 February 2019 bearing her photograph and signature, in
accordance with Rule Il, Section 12 and Rule IV Section 2 (b) of the 4 Rules on
Notarial Practice.
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Doc. No.: /7. MA. CONCERCION Z. SANDOVAL
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NICKEL ASIA CORP.,

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries (“the Group™) is responsible for
the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013. including the additional components attached therein. in accordance
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes designing and
implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the
same to the stockholders of the Group.

Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors, appointed by the directors and stockholders,
has examined the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine

Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness
of presentation upon completion of such examination.

Manuel B. Zamora JW

Chairman offthe Boar

Gerard H. Brimo

Presideng }d Chief Executive Officer

= ) (

“Emmanuel L. Samson

Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer
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Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013

and Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
and

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Building a better
working world

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.  Tel: (632) 891 0307 BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
SGV 6760 Ayala Avenue Fax: (632) 819 0872 December 28, 2012, valid until December 31, 2015
1226 Makati City ey.com/ph SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-3 (Group A),
Building a better Philippines November 15, 2012, valid until November 16, 2015

working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Nickel Asia Corporation and
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at

December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and
their financial performance and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2014 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Eleanore A. Layu 2) is

Partner

CPA Certificate No. 0100794

SEC Accreditation No. 1250-A (Group A),
August 9, 2012, valid until August 8, 2015

Tax Identification No. 163-069-453

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-97-2015,
January 5, 2015, valid until January 4, 2018

PTR No. 4751289, January 5, 2015, Makati City

March 27, 2015

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in Thousands)

December 31
2014 2013
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) £13,561,803 £10,234,336
Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 1,431,080 839,449
Inventories (Note 6) 2,863,181 2,044,469
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets (Note 7) 2,281,632 1,257,370
Prepayments and other current assets (Note 8) 473,774 225,412
Total Current Assets 20,611,470 14,601,036
Noncurrent Assets
AFS financial assets - net of current portion (Note 7) 522,797 1,181,568
Property and equipment (Note 9) 6,598,993 6,585,752
Investment properties (Note 10) 29,000 29,000
Investments in associates (Note 11) 5,304,040 4,112,126
Long-term stockpile inventory - net of current portion (Note 12) 812,760 981,463
Deferred income tax assets - net (Note 33) 207,967 344,443
Other noncurrent assets (Note 13) 1,096,881 1,078,140
Total Noncurrent Assets 14,572,438 14,312,492
TOTAL ASSETS P£35,183,908 28,913,528
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 14) £1,482,640 £928,113
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 15) 118,329 117,469
Income tax payable 513,598 263,381
Total Current Liabilities 2,114,567 1,308,963
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Note 15) 1,313,203 1,421,128
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Note 33) 421,050 486,228
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning (Note 16) 130,175 130,927
Deferred income - net of current portion 71,229 75,419
Pension liability (Note 32) 231,338 279,075
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,166,995 2,392,777
Total Liabilities 4,281,562 3,701,740
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Capital stock (Note 17) 1,272,495 1,266,780
Stock dividends distributable (Note 17) 632,648 -
Additional paid-in capital 8,273,655 8,151,603
Other components of equity:
Net valuation gains on AFS financial assets (Note 7) 171,322 99,506
Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) 47,060 49,524
Asset revaluation surplus 33,246 33,629
Share in cumulative translation adjustment (Note 11) 82,154 140,201
Retained earnings:
Appropriated (Note 17) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Unappropriated 15,673,051 9,748,905
27,185,631 20,490,148
Non-controlling Interests (NCI) 3,716,715 4,721,640
Total Equity 30,902,346 25,211,788
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P£35,183,908 £28,913,528

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Earnings per Share)

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
REVENUES (Note 31)
Sale of ore £24,052,734 £10,475,497 £11,143,293
Services and others 692,970 634,032 463,614
24,745,704 11,109,529 11,606,907
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of sales (Note 20) 5,356,411 4,489,294 4,467,215
Cost of services (Note 21) 371,150 335,292 260,399
Shipping and loading costs (Note 22) 1,837,568 1,398,771 1,400,550
Excise taxes and royalties (Note 23) 1,754,834 648,608 707,937
Marketing (Notes 36e and 36i) 168,943 65,629 94,354
General and administrative (Note 24) 956,864 624,819 527,581
10,445,770 7,562,413 7,458,036
FINANCE INCOME (Note 27) 172,104 166,753 235,040
FINANCE EXPENSES (Note 28) (164,369) (128,298) (114,536)
EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSSES) OF
ASSOCIATES (Note 11) 522,380 (184,703) (114,639)
OTHER INCOME - net (Note 29) 470,897 309,783 300,262
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 15,300,946 3,710,651 4,454,998
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX (Note 33)
Current 4,265,468 1,169,504 1,264,270
Deferred 27,359 (45,289) 70,428
4,292,827 1,124,215 1,334,698
NET INCOME £11,008,119 2,586,436 £3,120,300
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent P8,551,627 £2,053,674 £2,207,210
NCI 2,456,492 532,762 913,090
£11,008,119 2,586,436 £3,120,300
Earnings per share (EPS; Note 19)
Basic P2.26 P0.54 P0.58
Diluted P2.25 P£0.54 P0.58

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
NET INCOME £11,008,119 P2,586,436 P3,120,300
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) to be
reclassified to consolidated statements of
income in subsequent periods:
Share in translation adjustment of
associates (Note 11) (54,876) 307,900 (268,299)
Income tax effect (3,171) (30,790) 13,139
(58,047) 277,110 (255,160)
Net valuation gains on AFS financial
assets (Note 7) 96,806 45,679 66,910
Income tax effect (Note 7) (22,649) (15,636) (16,048)
74,157 30,043 50,862
Net other comprehensive income (loss) to be
reclassified to consolidated statements of
income in subsequent periods 16,110 307,153 (204,298)
Other comprehensive income (loss) not to be
reclassified to consolidated statements of
income in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement gain (loss) on pension
liability (Note 32) 62,960 (149,686) 92,417
Income tax effect (18,888) 44,906 (27,725)
44,072 (104,780) 64,692
Asset revaluation surplus (547) 547) (547)
Income tax effect 164 164 164
(383) (383) (383)
Net other comprehensive income (loss) not to be
reclassified to consolidated statements of
income in subsequent periods 43,689 (105,163) 64,309
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS) - NET OF TAX 59,799 201,990 (139,989)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME - NET OF TAX P11,067,918 P2,788,426 2,980,311
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent £8,592,028 £2,292,064 £2,035,344
NCI 2,475,890 496,362 944,967
£11,067,918 2,788,426 £2,980,311

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

(Amounts in Thousands)

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Net Valuation
Cost of Gains Share in
Stock Share-based on AFS Cumulative
Capital Dividends Additional Payment Financial Translation Asset Retained Earnings
Stock Distributable Paid-in Plan Assets Adjustment Revaluation Appropriated
(Note 17) (Note 17) Capital (Note 18) (Note 7) (Note 11) Surplus Unappropriated (Note 17) Total NCI Total

Balances at December 31, 2013 1,266,780 P 8,151,603 P49,524 299,506 P£140,201 P£33,629 9,748,905 £1,000,000 £20,490,148 £4,721,640 £25,211,788
Net income - - - - - - - 8,551,627 - 8,551,627 2,456,492 11,008,119
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 71,816 (58,047) (383) 27,015 — 40,401 19,398 59,799
Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 71,816 (58,047) (383) 8,578,642 - 8,592,028 2,475,890 11,067,918
Cost of share-based payment

plan (Note 18) - - - 43,000 - - - - - 43,000 - 43,000
Cash dividends (Note 17) - - - - - - - (2,021,727) - (2,021,727) - (2,021,727)
7% Cash dividends - Preferred share - - - - - - - (504) - (504) - (504)
Stock dividends (Note 17) - 632,648 - - - - - (632,648) - - - -
Exercise of stock options (Note 18) 5,715 - 122,052 (45,464) - - - - - 82,303 - 82,303
Share of NCI in cash dividends of

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (3,480,815) (3,480,815)
Asset revaluation surplus transferred to

retained earnings - - - - - - - 383 - 383 = 383
Balances at December 31, 2014 P£1,272,495 P632,648 P8,273,655 P£47,060 P171,322 P82,154 P33,246 P15,673,051 £1,000,000 P27,185,631 P3,716,715 £30,902,346

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Net Valuation

Cost of Gains Share in
Share-based on AFS Cumulative
Capital Additional Payment Financial Translation Asset Retained Earnings
Stock Paid-in Plan Assets Adjustment Revaluation Appropriated
(Note 17) Capital (Note 18) (Note 7) (Note 11) Surplus  Unappropriated (Note 17) Total NCI Total
Balances at December 31, 2012 P£1,013,938 P8,117,558 P57.464 P65,199 (R136,909) 34,012 £9,725,164 P P18,876,426 P4,705,278 P23,581,704
Net income - - - - - - 2,053,674 - 2,053,674 532,762 2,586,436
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — 34,307 277,110 (383) (72,644) — 238,390 (36,400) 201,990
Total comprehensive income (loss) - - - 34,307 277,110 (383) 1,981,030 - 2,292,064 496,362 2,788,426
Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) - - 10,369 - - - - - 10,369 - 10,369
Cash dividends - 0.35 per common share (Note 17) - - - - - - (705,252) - (705,252) - (705,252)
7% Cash dividends - Preferred share - - - - - - (504) - (504) - (504)
Stock dividends (Note 17) 251,916 - - - - - (251,916) - - - -
Exercise of stock options (Note 18) 926 34,045 (18,309) - - - - - 16,662 - 16,662
Share of NCI in cash dividends of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (480,000) (480,000)
Appropriation (Note 17) - - - - - - (1,000,000) 1,000,000 - - -
Asset revaluation surplus transferred to retained earnings — — — — — — 383 — 383 — 383
Balances at December 31, 2013 P1,266,780 P8,151,603 49,524 £99,506 £140,201 P33,629 $9,748,905 £1,000,000 £20,490,148 P4,721,640 P25211,788

See accompanying Notes to Cq lidated Financial Si
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Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

Net
Valuation
Cost of Gains Share in
Additional Share-based on AFS Cumulative Asset
Capital Paid-in Payment Financial Translation Revaluation Retained
Stock Capital Plan Assets Adjustment Surplus Earnings Total NCI Total
Balances at December 31, 2011 £677,116 P8,075,641 £64,308 £20,889 P118,251 P£34,395 P8,883,432 P17,874,032 P4,358,573 £22,232,605
Net income - - - - - 2,207,210 2,207,210 913,090 3,120,300
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — 44,310 (255,160) (383) 39,367 (171,866) 31,877 (139,989)
Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — 44,310 (255,160) (383) 2,246,577 2,035,344 944,967 2,980,311
Cost of share-based payment - - 2,759 - - - - 2,759 - 2,759
Cash dividends - 0.80 per common share (Note 17) - - - - - - (1,073,452) (1,073,452) - (1,073,452)
7% Cash dividends - Preferred share - - - - - - (504) (504) - (504)
Stock dividends (Note 17) 335,579 - - - - - (335,579) - - -
Exercise of stock options 1,243 41917 (9,603) - - - - 33,557 - 33,557
Share of NCI in cash dividends of a subsidiary - - - - - - - — (600,000) (600,000)
Restructuring of a subsidiary - - - - - 4,307 4,307 1,738 6,045
Asset revaluation surplus transferred to retained earnings — — — — — — 383 383 — 383
Balances at December 31, 2012 £1,013,938 £8,117,558 £57,464 £65,199 (R136,909) £34,012 £9,725,164 P18,876,426 P4,705,278 £23,581,704

See accompanying Notes to C lidated Financial Si




NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax £15,300,946 £3,710,651 P4,454,998
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortization and
depletion (Note 26) 1,373,334 1,262,651 981,883
Equity in net losses (income) of
associates (Note 11) (522,380) 184,703 114,639
Interest income (Note 27) (160,847) (159,445) (226,414)
Dividend income (Notes 7 and 29) (6,473) (62,654) (192,720)
Movements in pension liability (14,341) 52,998 34,451
Unrealized foreign exchange losses
(gains) - net (Note 29) (91,147) 41,647 (40,294)
Interest expense (Notes 21 and 28) 47,7117 38,313 63,989
Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 18) 43,000 10,369 2,759
Accretion interest on provision for mine
rehabilitation and decommissioning
(Notes 16 and 28) 8,893 8,554 13,539
Accretion income (Note 27) (573) - -
Loss (gain) on :
Sale of investment properties (Note 29) - (145,095) -
Sales of property and equipment (Note 29) (9,693) (82,005) 1,369
Valuation on AFS financial assets transferred
from equity to statement of income - net
(Notes 7, 27 and 28) (8,479) (7,308) (6,490)
Casualty losses - 2,785 -
Provision for impairment losses on property and
equipment (Notes 9 and 29) 98,487 - -
Day 1 loss (Note 28) 2,123 - -
Effect of change in estimate on provision for
mine rehabilitation and decommissioning
(Note 16) 756 - -
Operating income before working capital changes 16,061,323 4,856,164 5,201,709
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade and other receivables (574,383) 88,383 219,027
Inventories (650,009) 244,266 95,480
Prepayments and other current assets (242,854) (66,947) (63,655)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 572,792 73,959 (298,964)
Net cash generated from operations 15,166,869 5,195,825 5,153,597
Income taxes paid (4,015,251) (1,201,218) (1,244,344)
Interest received 147,758 166,316 225,818
Interest paid (37,692) (40,001) (56,107)
Net cash flows from operating activities 11,261,684 4,120,922 4,078,964

(Forward)



Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:
Property and equipment and investment
properties (Notes 9 and 10) (P1,557,072) (21,931,125) (P2,719,033)
AFS financial assets (Note 7) (1,397,019) (374,074) (574,747)
Proceeds from:
Sale of property and equipment and investment
properties (Notes 9, 10 and 29) 70,485 296,287 5,115
Sale of AFS financial assets (Notes 7 and 27) 415,713 119,172 77,753
Dividends received 6,473 62,654 192,720
Increase in other noncurrent assets (18,741) (85,997) (280,460)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,480,161) (1,913,083) (3,298,652)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 82,303 16,662 33,557
Increase (decrease) in deferred income (4,190) (12,867) 4,132
Payments of:
Cash dividends (Notes 17 and 30) (5,502,542) (1,185,252) (1,673,452)
Long-term debt (115,685) (118,473) (123,371)
Rehabilitation cost (Note 16) (10,401) (10,149) —
Net cash flows used in financing activities (5,550,515) (1,310,079) (1,759,134)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,231,008 897,760 (978,822)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 10,234,336 9,263,451 10,350,592
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 96,459 73,125 (108,319)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR (Note 4) P£13,561,803 210,234,336 £9,263.,451

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Number of Shares, Per Share Data and as Indicated)

1. Corporate Information

Nickel Asia Corporation (NAC; Parent Company) was registered with the Philippine Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 24, 2008. The Parent Company is primarily engaged in
investing in and holding of assets of every kind and description and wherever situated, as and to
the extent permitted by law. It is also registered, within the limits prescribed by law, to engage in
the business of mining of all kinds of ore, metals and minerals.

On November 22, 2010, the Parent Company was listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE)
with an initial public offering (IPO) of 304,500,000 common shares (consisting of 132,991,182
shares held in treasury and new common shares of 171,508,818) with an offer price of £15.00 per
share, which is equivalent to £5.33 per share after the stock dividends (see Note 17).

Parent Company Ownership Map

NAC
(Parent Company)

N Rio Tuba Nickel Samar Nickel Cordillera Taganito HPAL
Hinatuan Mining Cagdianao Mining Taganito Mining Mining Mining Resources Exploration Co., Nickel Coral Bay Nickel
Corporation Corporation Corporation Corporation Corp. (SNMRC) Inc. (CExCI) Corporation Corporation
(HMC) (CMC) (TMC) (RTN) (100%) (71.25%) (THNC) (CBNC)
(100%) (100%) (65%) (60%) (22.5%) (10%)
33.33%
La Costa
Shipping and o o
Lighterage Falck Exp Inc. 33.33% 33.33%
Corporation (FED)
(LCSLC)
(100%)

On March 24, 2014 and June 6, 2014, the Board of Directors (BOD) of the Parent Company and
its stockholders, respectively, approved the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation to reflect
the change in its principal office address from 6th floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street,
Legaspi Village, Makati City to NAC Tower 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig. The
amendment of the Parent Company’s Articles of Incorporation was approved by the SEC on
August 15, 2014.

The Subsidiaries

HMC

HMC was registered with the SEC on October 9, 1979, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and
exporting of nickel ore located in Hinatuan and Nonoc Islands, Surigao del Norte and Manicani
Island, Eastern Samar. HMC is also engaged in the chartering out of Landing Craft Transport
(LCT) and providing complete marine services. The registered office address of HMC is at 29th
floor NAC Tower, 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig.




cMcC

CMC was registered with the SEC on July 25, 1997, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and
exporting of nickel ore located in Barangay Valencia, Municipality of Cagdianao, Province of
Dinagat Island. The registered office address of CMC is at 29th floor NAC Tower, 32nd Street,
Bonifacio Global City, Taguig.

T™C

TMC was registered with the SEC on March 4, 1987, is a sixty-five percent (65%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and
exporting of nickel ore located in Claver, Surigao del Norte. TMC also provides services which
involves the handling, hauling and transportation of materials required in the processing
operations of THNC. The registered office address of TMC is at 29th floor NAC Tower,

32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig.

RTN

RTN was registered with the SEC on July 15, 1969, is a sixty percent (60%) owned subsidiary of
the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of nickel
ore located in Barangay Rio Tuba, Municipality of Bataraza, Palawan and providing non-mining
services required in the processing operations of CBNC. The registered office address of RTN is
at 29th floor NAC Tower, 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig.

FEI

FEI was registered with the SEC on November 22, 2005, is an eighty-eight percent (88%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company through HMC, CMC and TMC, and is primarily engaged in the
business of exploring, prospecting and operating mines and quarries of all kinds of ores and
minerals, metallic and non-metallic. On August 8, 2014, the BOD of FEI approved the immediate
dissolution of FEI. Thereafter, the liquidation process commenced and as a result, FEI changed
from going-concern to liquidation basis of accounting. Final dissolution will take place after the
approval of FEI’s application with the SEC. The registered office address of FEI is at 3rd floor
NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa corner Adelantado Streets, Legaspi Village, Makati City.

LCSLC

LCSLC was registered with the SEC on October 23, 1992, is a one hundred percent (100%)
owned subsidiary of the Parent Company through HMC, and is primarily engaged in the
chartering out of LCT and providing complete marine services. In a resolution dated May 6, 2014,
the BOD of LCSLC authorized the disposal of all of its LCT. Accordingly, on the same date,
LCSLC entered into a Deed of Absolute Sale with HMC to sell all of its LCT. LCSLC was
acquired by HMC in April 2010. The registered office address of the LCSLC is at 29th floor NAC
Tower, 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig.

SNMRC

SNMRC was registered with the SEC on March 11, 2010, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and
exporting of mineral ores. SNMRC has not yet started commercial operations. The registered
office address of SNMRC is at 29th floor NAC Tower, 32nd Street, Bonifacio Global City,

Taguig.

CExCI

CExCI was registered with the SEC on October 19, 1994, is a seventy-one percent (71%) owned
subsidiary of the Parent Company and is primarily engaged in the business of large-scale
exploration, development and utilization of mineral resources. CExXCI has a number of mining
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properties at various stages of exploration. It is currently not engaged in any development or
commercial production activities. The registered office address of CExClI is at 7th floor NAC
Centre, 143 Dela Rosa corner Adelantado Streets, Legaspi Village, Makati City.

Executive Order (EO) 79

On July 12, 2012, EO 79 was released to lay out the framework for the implementation of mining
reforms in the Philippines. The policy highlights several issues that includes area of coverage of
mining, small-scale mining, creation of a council, transparency and accountability and reconciling
the roles of the national Government and local Government units. Management believes that

EO 79 has no major impact on its current operations since the operating subsidiaries and mines are
covered by existing Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) with the Government.
Section 1 of EO 79, provides that mining contracts approved before the effectivity of the EO shall
continue to be valid, binding, and enforceable so long as they strictly comply with existing laws,
rules and regulations and the terms and conditions of their grant.

The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014 were authorized for issuance by the Parent
Company’s BOD on March 27, 2015.

Basis of Preparation and Consolidation, Statement of Compliance and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
derivative financial instrument and AFS financial assets which are measured at fair value and
inventories which are measured at net realizable value (NRV). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Parent Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the Group) determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional and presentation (or
reporting) currency. The functional currency of the entities in the Group is also the Philippine
peso. All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand (R000), except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous
period.

Basis of Consolidation from January 1, 2010
The consolidated financial statements include the Group and its associates:

Principal Place Effective Ownership
of Business Principal Activities 2014 2013

Subsidiaries
HMC Philippines Mining and Services 100.00% 100.00%
CMC Philippines Mining 100.00% 100.00%
SNMRC Philippines Mining 100.00% 100.00%
LCSLC* Philippines Services 100.00% 100.00%
FEI* Philippines Mining 88.00% 88.00%
CExCI Philippines Mining 71.25% 71.25%
T™C Philippines Mining and Services 65.00% 65.00%
RTN Philippines Mining and Services 60.00% 60.00%

Associates

THNC Philippines Manufacturing 22.50% 22.50%
CBNC* Philippines Manufacturing 10.00% 6.00%

*Direct and indirect ownership



The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at
December 31 of each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting year as the Parent Company using uniform accounting policies. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Parent Company has control.

Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee.

Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee if and only if the Parent Company has:

e Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

e Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

o The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

e The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

e Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a
subsidiary begins when the Parent Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Parent Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date the Parent Company gains control until the date the Parent Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Consolidated statement of income and each component of consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent Company and to the NCI,
even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance.

NCI
NCI represents interest in a subsidiary that is not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Parent
Company.

NCI represents the portion of profit or loss and the net assets not held by the Group. Transactions
with NCI are accounted for using the entity concept method, whereby the difference between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognized as an equity
transaction.



A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
Derecognizes the carrying amount of any NCI;

Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;

Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;

Recognizes any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of income; and
Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income to consolidated statement of income or
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Parent Company had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Basis of Consolidation Prior to January 1, 2010

The above mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The following

differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of

consolidation:

e NCl represented the portion of profit or loss and net assets in the subsidiaries not held by the
Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position separately from the Parent Company’s equity.

o Acquisition of NCI is accounted for using the entity concept method, whereby the difference
between the consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is
recognized as an equity transaction.

e Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the NCI until the balance was reduced to nil.
Any further excess losses were attributable to the Parent Company, unless the NCI had a
binding obligation to cover these.

e Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate
share of net asset value at the date control was lost.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

The specific accounting policies followed by the Group are disclosed in the following section.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for
the following new and amended PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), and Philippine
Interpretations based on International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and
improvements to PFRS which were adopted as at January 1, 2014.

o PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Amendments)
The amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off”
and also clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as
central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not
simultaneous. The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group’s
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financial position or performance. The Group continues to present financial assets and
financial liabilities at gross since the management has assessed that offsetting arrangements
are not mandatory.

o PAS 36, Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
(Amendments)
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of PFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement, on the disclosures required under PAS 36. In addition, these amendments
require disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or cash-generating units (CGUs)
for which impairment loss has been recognized or reversed during the period. The application
of the amendments has no material impact on the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

o PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments)
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a
derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria and retrospective
application is required. These amendments have no impact as the Group has not novated its
derivatives during the current or prior period.

o Investment Entities (Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements,
PFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities, and PAS 27, Separate Financial
Statements)
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that
meet the definition of an investment entity under PFRS 10. The exception to consolidation
requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL). The amendments must be applied retrospectively, subject to certain transition relief.
It is not expected that these amendments would be relevant to the Group since none of the
entities would qualify to be an investment entity under PFRS 10.

e Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers
payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be
anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. Retrospective application is
required for [FRIC 21. This interpretation has no impact on the Group as it has applied the
recognition principles under PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, consistent with the requirements of IFRIC 21 in prior years.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle)

In the 2010-2012 annual improvements cycle, seven amendments to six standards were issued,
which included an amendment to PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The amendment to

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Short-term Receivables and Payables, is effective
immediately and it clarifies that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates
can be measured at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. This
amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle)

In the 2011-2013 annual improvements cycle, four amendments to four standards were issued,
which included an amendment to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of PFRS. The amendment to
PFRS 1 is effective immediately. It clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current



standard or a new standard that is not yet mandatory, but permits early application, provided either
standard is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first PFRS
financial statements. This amendment has no impact on the Group as it is not a first time PFRS
adopter.

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Effective Subsequent to

December 31, 2014

The Group will adopt the standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become
effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new and
amended standards and interpretations to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

Effective Date to be Determined

e PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement (2010 version)
PFRS 9 (2010 version) reflects the first phase on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to the
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities as defined in PAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PFRS 9 requires all financial assets to
be measured at fair value at initial recognition. A debt financial asset may, if the fair value
option (FVO) is not invoked, be subsequently measured at amortized cost if it is held within a
business model that has the objective to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows
and its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other debt instruments are
subsequently measured at FVPL. All equity financial assets are measured at fair value either
through other comprehensive income (OCI) or profit or loss. Equity financial assets held for
trading must be measured at FVPL. For FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI. The
remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the
fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. All other PAS 39 classification and measurement
requirements for financial liabilities have been carried forward into PFRS 9, including the
embedded derivative separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO. The adoption of the
first phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets, but will potentially have no impact on the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities.

PFRS 9 (2010 version) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015.
This mandatory adoption date was moved to January 1, 2018 when the final version of

PFRS 9 was adopted by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). Such
adoption, however, is still for approval by the Board of Accountancy (BOA). The Group will
not adopt the standard before the completion of the limited amendments and the second phase
of the project.

e Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that
undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. The interpretation
requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion,
except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under
PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is
recognized based on stage of completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the
construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the
buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of completion. The
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SEC and the FRSC have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final Revenue
standard is issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation
of the requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine real
estate industry is completed.

Adoption of the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since it has no agreements for the construction
of real estate.

The following new standards and amendments issued by the IASB were already adopted by the
FRSC but are still for approval of the BOA

Effective January 1, 2015:

o PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments)
PAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when
accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they
should be attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify
that, if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an
entity is permitted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the
period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of
service. The Group has no contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit
plans. Thus, these amendments have no impact on the Group’s financial position or
performance.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle)
The annual improvements to PFRSs (2010-2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards:

e PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition

This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the

definitions of performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:

e A performance condition must contain a service condition.

e A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service.

e A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group.
A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition.

e If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting
period, the service condition is not satisfied.

The amendments affect disclosure only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position
or performance.

e PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business
Combination
The amendment is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after July 1, 2014. It clarifies that a contingent consideration that is not classified
as equity is subsequently measured at FVPL whether or not it falls within the scope of
PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (or PFRS 9, Financial
Instruments, if early adopted). The Group shall consider this amendment for future business
combinations.



PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the

Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets

The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarify that:

e An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation
criteria in the standard, including a brief description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) used to assess
whether the segments are “similar”.

e The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required
disclosure for segment liabilities.

The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position
or performance.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Revaluation
Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset
may be revalued by reference to the observable data on either the gross or the net carrying
amount. In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortization is the difference between
the gross and carrying amounts of the asset. The amendment affects disclosure only and has
no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity, which is an
entity that provides key management personnel services, is a related party subject to the
related party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to
disclose the expenses incurred for management services. The amendment affects disclosure
only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards:

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies the following regarding the scope

exceptions within PFRS 3:

e Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.

o This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

This is not expected to be relevant to the Group since it has no joint arrangements.

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13
can be applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts
within the scope of PAS 39 (or PFRS 9, as applicable). The amendment affects disclosure
only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

PAS 40, Investment Property

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, and not the description of
ancillary services in PAS 40, is used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset
or business combination. The description of ancillary services in PAS 40 only differentiates
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between investment property and owner-occupied property (i.e., property, plant and
equipment). The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the Group’s
financial position or performance.

Effective January 1, 2016:

e PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in
PFRS 10 and those in PAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full gain or loss
is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or
not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not
constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of adopting this standard.

e PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
(Amendments)
The amendments to PFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an
interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business
must apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured
on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is
retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the
amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity,
are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively
effective with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any
impact to the Group since it has no joint arrangements.

o PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRS. Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must
present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial
position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the
statement of profit or loss and OCI. The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and
risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its
financial statements. Since the Group is an existing PFRS preparer, this standard would not

apply.

o PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments)
The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets. The amendments are
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effective prospectively with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to
have any impact to the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based method to
depreciate its noncurrent assets.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
(Amendments)

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition
of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply.
After initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost
(before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity). The
amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of
PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer
plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance,
will apply. The amendments are retrospectively effective with early adoption permitted.
These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group as it does not have any
bearer plants.

PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
(Amendments)

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities
already applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial
statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of PFRS
electing to use the equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to
apply this method from the date of transition to PFRS. The amendments are effective with
early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this
standard.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards:

PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods
of Disposal

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through
sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be
a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies
that c